## **UNITED STATES** SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, DC 20549

## **FORM 10-Q**

#### **QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT** X **OF 1934**

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2011

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT **OF 1934** 

For the transition period from

**Commission File Number: 001-35068** 

to

# **ACELRX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

41-2193603 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

575 Chesapeake Drive Redwood City, CA 94063

(650) 216-3500

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ⊠ No □

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§-232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes  $\boxtimes$  No  $\square$ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer	$\Box$ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company	X
Indicate by check r	mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act)	Yes 🗆 No 🗵	

As of August 1, 2011, the number of outstanding shares of the registrant's common stock was 19,419,665.

## ACELRX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q FOR THE QUARTER ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I. FINAN	NCIAL INFORMATION	Page 3
Item 1.	Financial Statements	3
	Condensed Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010	3
	Condensed Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 and for the period from July 13, 2005 (inception) through June 30, 2011 (unaudited) Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 and for the period from July 13, 2005 (inception) through June 30, 2011 (unaudited)	4
	Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (unaudited)	6
Item 2. Item 3. Item 4.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Controls and Procedures	18 28 28
PART II. OTH	ER INFORMATION	29
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	29
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	29
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	52
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	53
Item 4.	(Removed and Reserved)	53
Item 5.	Other Information	53
Item 6.	Exhibits	53

Unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms "AcelRx," "AcelRx Pharmaceuticals," "we," "us" and "our" refer to AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The name "ACELRX" is our trademark. "NANOTAB" is a registered trademark of AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We have a trademark application pending for our tagline, "ACCELERATE, INNOVATE, ALLEVIATE" in Class 5, in the United States. This report also contains trademarks and trade names that are the property of their respective owners.

## PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

## AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (A Development Stage Company)

## **Condensed Balance Sheets**

### (In thousands, except share and per share data)

	June 30, 2011 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2010 <sup>(1)</sup>
ASSETS	(Chaddhed)	2010()
CURRENT ASSETS:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 18,760	\$ 3,055
Short-term investments	19,042	627
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	1,206	2,097
Total current assets	39,008	5,779
Property and equipment, net	1,670	800
Restricted cash	205	205
Other assets	104	46
TOTAL ASSETS	\$ 40,987	\$ 6,830
LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)		
CURRENT LIABILITIES:	¢ 1047	¢ 542
Accounts payable Accrued liabilities	\$ 1,847 1,779	\$ 543 859
Convertible notes	1,779	6,805
Long-term debt, current portion		5,204
Other current liabilities	151	5,204
Total current liabilities	3,777	13,411
Contingent put option liability	62	15,411
Call option liability	02	596
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability		2,529
Long-term debt	8,733	
Other liabilities		245
Total liabilities	12,572	16,781
Commitments and Contingencies	12,372	10,701
Convertible preferred stock, \$0.001 par value—10,000,000 shares and 46,736,125 shares authorized as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively; no shares and 7,151,802 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively		55,941
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT):		
Common stock, \$0.001 par value—100,000,000 and 71,000,000 shares authorized as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively; 19,419,665 and 674,353 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30,		
2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively	21	3
Additional paid-in capital	104,926	2,668
Deficit accumulated during the development stage	(76,530)	(68,563)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(2)	
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)	28,415	(65,892)
TOTAL LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)	\$ 40,987	\$ 6,830

(1) The condensed balance sheet as of December 31, 2010 has been derived from the audited financial statements as of that date included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

See notes to condensed financial statements.

## AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (A Development Stage Company)

## **Condensed Statements of Operations**

## (Unaudited) (In thousands, except share and per share data)

	_	Three Months Ended         Six Months Ended           June 30,         June 30,           2011         2010         2011         2010			June 30,			June 30,			Ju 2 (Inc Th Ju	od from ly 13, 005 eption) rough ne 30, 011
Research grant revenue	\$	40	\$	—	\$	40	\$		\$	40		
Operating expenses:												
Research and development		3,029		2,033		4,975		4,795	5	8,772		
General and administrative		1,630		1,276		3,220		1,948	1	5,714		
Total operating expenses		4,659		3,309		8,195		6,743	7	4,486		
Loss from operations		(4,619)		(3,309)		(8,155)		(6,743)	(7	4,446)		
Interest expense		(156)		(214)		(1,514)		(458)	(	(4,644)		
Interest income and Other income (expense), net		12		(14)		1,702		(18)		2,560		
Net loss	\$	(4,763)	\$	(3,537)	\$	(7,967)	\$	(7,219)	\$(7	6,530)		
Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted	\$	(0.25)	\$	(5.41)	\$	(0.53)	\$	(11.26)				
Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share of common stock	19	,374,909	(	553,637	15	,058,546	6	41,391				

See notes to condensed financial statements.

## AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (A Development Stage Company) Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

## (Unaudited) (In thousands)

	Six Months En 2011	<u>ded June 30,</u> 2010	200	d from July 13, 05 (Inception) ough June 30, 2011
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:				
Net loss	\$ (7,967)	\$(7,219)	\$	(76,530)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:				1
Depreciation and amortization	232	240		1,797
Amortization of premium/discount on investments, net	78	42		78
Interest expense related to debt financing	1,306	117		2,514
Stock-based compensation	789	866		3,302
Revaluation of convertible preferred stock warrant liability and write off of call option liability	(1,682)	—		(254)
Other non-cash items		—		(10)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Prepaids and other assets	892	18		343
Restricted cash		—		(205)
Accounts payable	863	(147)		1,406
Accrued liabilities	557	(471)		(353)
Deferred rent	(94)	(88)		150
Net cash used in operating activities	(5,026)	(6,642)		(67, 762)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:				
Purchase of property and equipment	(237)	(4)		(2,606)
Purchase of investments	(19,809)	(478)		(65,109)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments	1,316	3,975		46,040
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	(18,730)	3,493		(21,675)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:				
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of costs	34,939			34,939
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt	9,762			22,383
Payments of long-term debt	(5,298)	(2,313)		(13,222)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissory notes		_		9,000
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of options	58	13		156
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs		70		54,941
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	39,461	(2,230)		108,197
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	15,705	(5,379)		18,760
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of period	3,055	7,150		
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of period	\$ 18,760	\$ 1,771	\$	18,760
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:	\$ 10,700	<i>\(\phi\)</i>	÷	10,700
Cash paid for interest	\$ 196	\$ 341	\$	1,936
NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:	\$ 190	\$ 541	φ	1,950
Conversion of convertible promissory notes into common stock	\$ 8,137	\$ —	\$	8,137
Issuance of common stock upon cashless exercise of warrants	\$ 536	\$	\$	536
Reclassification of warrant liability and call option liability to equity	\$ 906	\$ —	\$	906
Issuance of warrants for common stock	\$ 967	\$ —	\$	967
Contingent put option liability	\$ 62	\$ —	\$	62
Purchase of property and equipment through accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$ 865	\$ —	\$	865

See notes to condensed financial statements.

#### 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

### The Company

AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or the Company, is a development stage company that was incorporated in Delaware on July 13, 2005 as SuRx, Inc. In January 2006, the Company changed its name to AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Company's operations are based in Redwood City, California.

The Company is a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of innovative therapies for the treatment of acute and breakthrough pain. Since incorporation, the Company's primary activities have consisted of establishing facilities, recruiting personnel, conducting research and development of its product candidates, developing intellectual property and raising capital. To date, the Company has not yet commenced primary operations or generated any significant revenues and, accordingly, the Company is considered to be in the development stage.

The Company has one business activity, which is the development and commercialization of product candidates for the treatment of pain, and a single reporting and operating unit structure.

The Company has incurred recurring operating losses and negative cash flows from operating activities since inception through June 30, 2011. In addition, the Company had an accumulated deficit of \$76.5 million and \$68.6 million as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010. Through June 30, 2011, the Company has relied primarily on the proceeds from equity offerings and loan proceeds to finance its operations. Management believes that the Company's current cash, cash equivalents and investments, and funds from drawing down the second \$10.0 million tranche pursuant to its loan facility with Hercules Technology II, L.P. and Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., collectively referred to as Hercules, which the Company entered into in June 2011, will be sufficient to fund the Company's current operations into the first quarter of 2013. The Company will need to raise additional funding or otherwise enter into collaborations to support future operations. However, there is no assurance that additional funding will be available to the Company on acceptable terms on a timely basis, if at all, or that the Company will achieve profitable operations. If the Company is unable to raise additional capital to fund its operations, it will need to curtail planned activities to reduce costs. Doing so may affect the Company's ability to operate effectively. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The accompanying unaudited condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial information and the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included.

Operating results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2011. The condensed balance sheet as of December 31, 2010 was derived from the Company's audited financial statements as of December 31, 2010, included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010. Stockholders are encouraged to review the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for a broader discussion of the Company's business and the risks inherent therein.

#### **Reverse Stock Split**

In January 2011, the Company's board of directors and stockholders approved a 1-for-4 reverse stock split of the Company's issued and outstanding shares of common stock and convertible preferred stock, which became effective on January 28, 2011. The par value of the common stock and convertible preferred stock was not adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split. All issued and outstanding common stock, options exercisable for common stock, convertible preferred stock, warrants exercisable for common stock, warrants for convertible preferred stock, and per share amounts contained in the Company's condensed financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split for all periods presented.

#### Initial Public Offering

On February 10, 2011, the Company sold 8,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of \$5.00 per share in its IPO. The shares began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market on February 11, 2011. The Company received \$34.9 million in net proceeds from the IPO, after deducting \$5.1 million in underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering-related expenses payable by the Company. Upon the closing of the offering, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock converted into 8,555,713 shares of common stock. In addition, the principal and accrued interest under the 2010 Convertible Notes, as defined in Note 5 "Convertible Notes," converted into 2,034,438 shares of common stock immediately prior to the closing of the IPO and the 2010 Warrants, as defined in Note 6 "Warrants," were net exercised for 107,246 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock, which shares were converted to 107,246 shares of common stock immediately prior to the closing of the IPO. All other outstanding warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock became exercisable for shares of common stock. Concurrently, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation increasing the number of authorized shares of common stock to 100,000,000 with a par value of \$0.001 per share and decreasing the number of authorized shares of preferred stock to 10,000,000 with a par value of \$0.001 per share.

#### Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the condensed financial statements and accompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, including critical accounting policies or estimates related to the fair value of common stock, stock-based compensation expense and the fair value of convertible preferred stock warrants. Estimates are based on historical experience and on various other market specific and other relevant assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### **Revenue Recognition**

The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; the fee is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured.

In May 2011, the Company entered into an award contract with the US Army Medical Research and Material Command, or USAMRMC, to support the development of the Company's new product candidate, ARX-04, a Sufentanil NanoTab for the treatment of acute pain. The grant provides for the reimbursement of qualified expenses for research and development activities as defined under the terms of the grant agreement. Revenue under the grant agreement is recognized when the related qualified research expenses are incurred.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In June of 2011, Accounting Standards Codification Topic 220, *Comprehensive Income* was amended to increase the prominence of items reported in other comprehensive income. Accordingly, a company can present all non-owner changes in stockholders' equity either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements The Company plans to adopt this guidance as of January 1, 2012 on a retrospective basis and does not expect the adoption thereof to have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

In May of 2011, Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820, *Fair Value Measurement* was amended to develop common requirements for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and International Financial Reporting Standards. The Company plans to adopt this guidance as of January 1, 2012 on a prospective basis and does not expect the adoption thereof to have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

### 2. Investments and Fair Value Measurement

#### Investments

The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale and records its investments at fair value. Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimated fair value based on quoted market prices, with the unrealized holding gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income. Marketable securities which have maturities beyond one year as of the end of the reporting period are classified as non-current.

The Company's investments are subject to a periodic impairment review. The Company recognizes an impairment charge when a decline in the fair value of its investments below the cost basis is judged to be other-than-temporary. The Company considers various factors in determining whether to recognize an impairment charge, including the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than the Company's cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, and the Company's intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in the market value.

The table below summarizes the Company's cash, cash equivalents and investments (in thousands):

		As of June 30, 2011						
	Amortized Cost		Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value				
Cash and cash equivalents:								
Cash	\$ 10,089	\$ —	\$ —	\$10,089				
Corporate debt securities	5,000	_		5,000				
U.S. government agency securities	3,671			3,671				
Total cash and cash equivalents	\$ 18,760	\$ —	\$ —	\$18,760				
Marketable securities:								
Corporate debt securities	1,700		_	1,700				
U.S. government agency securities	17,344		(2)	17,342				
Total marketable securities	\$ 19,044	\$ —	\$ (2)	\$19,042				
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments	\$ 37,804	<u>\$                                    </u>	<u>\$ (2)</u>	\$ 37,802				

		As of December 31, 2010							
	Amo	rtized Cost		Unrealized Gains		Unrealized osses		Fair Value	
Cash and cash equivalents:									
Cash	\$	103	\$		\$	—	\$	103	
Money market funds		79		_		—		79	
U.S. government agency securities		2,873						2,873	
Total cash and cash equivalents	\$	3,055	\$		\$		\$	3,055	
Marketable securities:									
U.S. government agency securities		627						627	
Total marketable securities	\$	627	\$	_	\$		\$	627	
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments	\$	3,682	\$		\$		\$	3,682	

As of June 30, 2011, none of the available-for-sale securities held by the Company had material unrealized losses and there were no realized losses for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The gross unrealized losses above are a result of interest rate increases. No significant facts or circumstances have arisen to indicate that there has been any deterioration in the creditworthiness of the issuers of the Company's investment securities. There were no other-than-temporary impairments for these securities at June 30, 2011.

As of June 30, 2011, the contractual maturity of all investments held was less than one year.

#### Fair Value Measurement

The Company measures and reports its cash equivalents, investments and the liability associated with previously outstanding warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock at fair value. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or an exit price paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy defines a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements as follows:

Level I-Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level II—Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level I that are observable, unadjusted quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the related assets or liabilities; and

Level III—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity for the related assets or liabilities.

The categorization of a financial instrument within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The Company's financial instruments consist of Level I and Level II assets and Level III liabilities. Level I securities include highly liquid money market funds. For Level II instruments, the Company estimates fair value by using benchmark yields, reported trades, broker dealer quotes and issuer spreads. Such Level II instruments include U.S. government agency and corporate obligations. As of June 30, 2011, the Company held, in addition to Level I and Level II assets, a contingent put option liability associated with the Company's loan and security agreement with Hercules, which was classified as a Level III liability. The fair value of the contingent put liability was determined by evaluating multiple potential outcomes using an income approach and discounting the values back to June 30, 2011 while applying estimated probabilities to each scenario value.

As of December 31 2010, the Company held, in addition to Level I and Level II assets, convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities and call option liabilities, which were classified as Level III liabilities. Immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, the convertible preferred stock warrants were either converted into warrants to purchase common stock or exercised for shares of convertible preferred stock, which shares were automatically converted into common stock. As a result of the aforementioned conversions, the preferred stock warrant liabilities and call option liabilities were eliminated. The fair values of the then-outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants were measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Inputs used to determine estimated fair market value included the estimated fair value of the underlying stock at the valuation measurement date, the remaining contractual term of the warrants, risk-free interest rates, expected dividends and the expected volatility of the underlying stock. The fair value of the call option was determined by evaluating multiple potential outcomes using a market approach and an income approach depending on the scenario and discounting the values back to December 31, 2010 while applying estimated probabilities to each scenario value.

The following table sets forth the fair value of the Company's financial assets and liabilities by level within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

		As of June 30, 2011					
	Fair Value	Level I	Level II	Level III			
Assets							
Money market funds	\$ 1,864	\$1,864	\$ —	\$ —			
Corporate debt securities	6,700		6,700				
U.S. government agency obligations	19,149		19,149				
Total assets measured at fair value	\$ 27,713	\$1,864	\$25,849	\$			
Liabilities							
Contingent put option liability	<u>\$ 62</u>			\$ 62			
Total liabilities measured at fair value	\$ 62	\$	\$	\$ 62			
		As of December 31, 2010					
		As of Decen	nber 31, 2010				
	Fair Value	As of Decen Level I	nber 31, 2010 Level II	Level III			
Assets		Level I	Level II				
Assets Money market funds	Fair Value \$79			<u>Level III</u> \$ —			
		Level I	Level II				
Money market funds	\$ 79	Level I	Level II\$				
Money market funds U.S. government agency obligations	\$ 79 <u>3,500</u>	<u>Level I</u> \$ 79 	Level II \$ — 3,500				
Money market funds U.S. government agency obligations Total assets measured at fair value	\$ 79 <u>3,500</u>	<u>Level I</u> \$ 79 	Level II \$ — 3,500				
Money market funds         U.S. government agency obligations         Total assets measured at fair value         Liabilities	\$ 79 <u>3,500</u> <u>\$ 3,579</u>	<u>Level I</u> \$ 79 	Level II \$ 3,500 \$ 3,500	\$ \$			

## AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (A Development Stage Company)

## Notes to Condensed Financial Statements—(Continued) (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of the Company's Level III financial liabilities (in thousands):

	 onths Ended e 30, 2011
Fair value—beginning of period	\$ 3,125
Exercise of warrants	(536)
Reclassification of warrant liability	(906)
Change in fair value of Level III liabilities	(1,683)
Addition of contingent put option liability	62
Fair value—end of period	\$ 62

#### 3. Research Grant Agreement

In May 2011, AcelRx entered into an award contract with the US Army Medical Research and Material Command, or USAMRMC, in which the USAMRMC granted \$5.6 million to the Company in order to support the development of a new product candidate, ARX-04, a Sufentanil NanoTab for the treatment of acute pain. Under the terms of the grant, the USAMRMC will reimburse the Company for development, manufacturing and clinical costs necessary to prepare for and complete the planned Phase 2 dose-finding trial in a study of acute moderate-to-severe pain, and to prepare to enter Phase 3 development. The period of research under the grant ends on August 31, 2012, with a final report due on September 30, 2012. The grant gives the USAMRMC the option to extend the term of the grant and provide additional funding for the research.

Revenue is recognized based on expenses incurred by AcelRx in conducting research and development activities set forth in the agreement. Revenue attributable to the research and development performed under the USAMRMC grant was \$40,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2011.

#### 4. Long-Term Debt

#### Hercules Loan and Security Agreement

On June 29, 2011, AcelRx entered into a loan and security agreement with Hercules, under which AcelRx may borrow up to \$20.0 million in two tranches of \$10.0 million each, represented by secured convertible term promissory notes. The Company's obligations associated with the agreement are secured by a security interest in substantially all of its assets, other than its intellectual property.

The Company borrowed the first tranche of \$10.0 million upon the closing of the transaction on June 29, 2011. The Company used a portion of the proceeds from the first tranche to repay the remaining obligations under that certain loan and security agreement between the Company and Pinnacle Ventures, L.L.C., or Pinnacle Ventures, dated September 16, 2008. The agreement with Pinnacle Ventures is described further below. The second tranche of up to \$10.0 million can be drawn, at the Company's option, anytime prior to December 16, 2011. The interest rate for each tranche will be calculated at a rate equal to the greater of either (i) 8.50% plus the positive difference between the prime rate as reported from time to time in The Wall Street Journal and 5.25%, and (ii) 8.50%. The Company will make interest only payments until June 30, 2012 which would be extended until October 1, 2012 if the Company has initiated enrollment for its planned abdominal and comparator ARX-01 Phase 3 clinical trials on or before December 31, 2011, or the Extension Trigger Event, followed by equal monthly payments of principal and interest through the scheduled maturity date on December 1, 2014, which would be extended until March 1, 2015 upon the Extension Trigger Event.

Subject to certain conditions and limitations set forth in the Hercules loan and security agreement, the Company has the right to convert up to \$3.0 million of scheduled principal installments under the notes into that number of freely tradable shares of common stock equal to (x) the product of (A) the principal amount to be so converted and (B) 103%, divided by (y) \$5.70 per share.

In addition, Hercules was granted the right, in their discretion, to participate in certain future private offerings of securities by the Company occurring on or prior to June 29, 2013 by investing up to an aggregate of \$2.0 million on the same terms, conditions and pricing afforded to others participating in such subsequent offerings.

The Hercules loan and security agreement includes customary affirmative and restrictive covenants, but does not include any financial maintenance covenants, and also includes standard events of default.

Upon an event of default, including a change of control, Hercules has the option to accelerate repayment of the loan, including payment of any applicable prepayment charges, which range from 1%-3% of the outstanding loan balance and accrued interest, as well as a final payment fee of \$0.2 million. This option is considered a contingent put option liability as the holder of the loan may exercise the option in the event of default and, is considered an embedded derivative which must be valued and separately accounted for in the Company's financial statements. As of June 30, 2011, the estimated fair value of the contingent put option liability was \$62,000 which was determined by evaluating multiple potential outcomes of an event of default, including a change of control, using an income approach and discounting the values back to June 30, 2011 while applying estimated probabilities to each scenario value. As of June 30, 2011 the contingent put option liability was recorded as a debt discount to the loan and consequently a reduction to the carrying value of the loan. The contingent put option liability will be revalued at the end of each reporting period and any change in the fair value will be recognized in the statement of operations.

In connection with the loan, the Company issued Hercules seven-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 274,508 shares of common stock at a price of \$3.06 per share. See Note 6 "Warrants," for further description.

As of June 30, 2011, the Company had outstanding borrowings under the Hercules loan and security agreement of \$8.7 million, net of debt discounts of \$1.3 million, and had an accrued balance of \$74,000 related to deferred financing costs.

#### **Pinnacle Loan and Security Agreement**

In September 2008, the Company entered into a \$12.0 million loan and security agreement with Pinnacle. In November 2008, the Company drew down all \$12.0 million of the loan facility. On June 29, 2011, upon execution of the Hercules loan and security agreement, the Pinnacle agreement was terminated and the outstanding balance of \$2.8 million was repaid. The unamortized portions of the final payment and deferred financing costs were recorded to interest expense upon termination of the agreement.

As of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company had outstanding borrowings under the Pinnacle loan and security agreement of \$0 million and \$5.2 million.

#### 5. Convertible Notes

#### 2010 Convertible Notes

On September 14, 2010, the Company sold convertible promissory notes, or the 2010 Convertible Notes, to certain existing investors for an aggregate purchase price of \$8.0 million. The 2010 Convertible Notes bore interest at a rate of 4.0% per annum and had a maturity date of the earlier of (1) September 14, 2011 or (2) an event of default. In connection with the IPO, the outstanding principal and accrued interest under the 2010 Convertible Notes automatically converted into 2,034,438 shares of common stock immediately prior to the closing of the IPO.

Upon the election of the holders of a majority of the aggregate principal amount payable under the 2010 Convertible Notes outstanding, the Company was required to sell an additional \$4.0 million of 2010 Convertible Notes. This additional \$4.0 million was determined to be a call option that was recorded at its fair value of \$476,000 as a debt discount that would have been amortized to interest expense over the one-year term of the 2010 Convertible Notes. The fair value of the call option was determined by evaluating multiple potential outcomes using a market approach and an income approach depending on the scenario and discounting these values back to the appropriate date while applying estimated probabilities to each scenario value. These scenarios included a potential initial public offering, merger or sale of the Company at different times during 2011 and 2012 as well as remaining private. The fair value of the call option as of December 31, 2010 was \$596,000. During the three months ended March 31, 2011, the 2010 Convertible Notes were amended so that the note holders' option to invest the second tranche of \$4.0 million expired upon the closing of the IPO. The call option was revalued to its fair value as of the IPO date and was written off upon its expiration with a benefit of \$596,000 being recognized through other income (expense) during the three months ended March 31, 2011. In addition, the unamortized debt discount in the amount of \$1.1 million at the time of the IPO was recognized as interest expense in connection with the conversion of the notes.

#### 6. Warrants

#### Series A Warrants

In March 2007, the Company entered into an equipment financing agreement in which the Company issued immediately exercisable and fully vested warrants to purchase 2,500 shares of its Series A convertible preferred stock, or the Series A warrants, with an exercise price of \$10.00 per share. The fair value of the Series A warrants on the date of issuance was \$1,000, as determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. This fair value was recorded as a convertible preferred stock warrant liability and as a deferred financing cost in other assets. The fair value was remeasured at the end of each reporting period. In connection with the IPO, the Series A warrants were automatically converted into warrants to purchase 3,425 shares of common stock. As a result of the conversion, these common stock warrants were no longer recorded as liabilities and were, therefore, no longer remeasured as of the end of each reporting period. As of June 30, 2011, warrants to purchase 3,425 shares of common stock had not been exercised and were still outstanding. These warrants expire in March 2017.

#### Series B and Series C Warrants

In September 2008, the Company entered into a \$12.0 million loan and security agreement with Pinnacle Ventures. In November 2008, the Company drew down all \$12.0 million of the loan facility. In connection with the loan and security agreement, the Company issued immediately exercisable and fully vested warrants, or the Series B warrants, to purchase 56,250 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of \$16.00 per share. Upon the closing of the Series C convertible preferred stock financing during the year ended December 31, 2009, the Series B warrants underlying the loan and security agreement became exercisable for 228,264 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of \$3.94 per share, or the Series C warrants. The Company determined the fair value of the Series B warrants and Series C warrants on the dates of issuance to be \$162,000, as determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model which was recorded as a convertible preferred stock warrant liability and as a deferred financing cost in other assets. The Company revalued the convertible preferred stock warrant liability related to the Series B warrants during each reporting period using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability related to these Series B warrants and Series C warrants and Series C warrants during each reporting period using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability related to these Series B warrants and Series C warrants was estimated to be \$894,000 and \$1.2 million as of the IPO date in February 2011 and December 31, 2010.

In connection with the Company's IPO in February 2011, the Series C warrants were automatically converted into warrants to purchase 228,264 shares of common stock. Immediately before the conversion to common stock warrants, the Series C warrants were remeasured to fair value with the change in the fair value of these warrants of \$323,000 being recorded as a benefit through other income (expense), net during the three months ended March 31, 2011. Immediately after the conversion to common stock warrants, the remaining liability of \$894,000 was reclassified to additional paid-in capital. As a result of the conversion, these common stock warrants were no longer recorded as liabilities and were therefore no longer remeasured as of the end of each reporting period.

As of June 30, 2011, warrants to purchase 228,264 shares of common stock had not been exercised and were still outstanding. These warrants expire in September 2018.

#### 2010 Warrants

The Company issued warrants in connection with the 2010 Convertible Notes in September 2010, or the 2010 Warrants. The 2010 Warrants were exercisable into shares of convertible preferred stock. The 2010 Warrants would have terminated if not exercised immediately prior to the IPO. The 2010 Warrants allowed for cashless exercises.

The Company determined the fair value of the 2010 Warrants to be \$1.2 million upon issuance, as determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model which was recorded as a convertible preferred stock warrant liability and a debt discount. As of December 31, 2010, the related warrant liability was \$1.3 million. In connection with the IPO, the 2010 Warrants were net exercised into shares of Series C convertible preferred stock, which shares were automatically converted to 107,246 shares of common stock immediately prior to the IPO. Immediately before the exercise into Series C convertible preferred stock, the 2010 Warrants were remeasured to fair value with the change in the fair value of these warrants of \$796,000 being recorded as a benefit through other income (expense), net during the three months ended March 31, 2011. Immediately after the exercise into Series C convertible preferred stock, the remaining liability of \$536,000 was reclassified to additional paid-in capital.

#### **Hercules Warrants**

In connection with the loan and security agreement with Hercules, the Company issued to Hercules warrants to purchase an aggregate of 274,508 shares of common stock at a price of \$3.06 per share. The warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis. The warrants are exercisable for a term beginning on the date of issuance and ending on the earlier to occur of seven years from the date of issuance or the consummation of certain acquisitions of the Company as set forth in the warrants. The Company estimated the fair value of these warrants as of the issuance date to be \$967,000, which was recorded as a debt discount to the loan and consequently a reduction to the carrying value of the loan. The fair value of the warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, and was based on the contractual term of the warrants of seven years, a risk-free interest rate of 2.44%, expected volatility of 79% and 0% expected dividend yield. The Company also recorded fees paid to Hercules as a debt discount, which further reduced the carrying value of the loan. The debt discount is being amortized to interest expense.

As of June 30, 2011, warrants to purchase 274,508 shares of common stock issued to Hercules had not been exercised and were still outstanding.

### 7. Stock-Based Compensation

#### Stock Option and Equity Incentive Plans

		nths Ended e 30,		ths Ended e 30,
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Expenses:				
Research and development	\$ 204	\$ 423	\$325	\$ 547
General and administrative	262	317	464	319
Total stock-based compensation expense	\$ 466	\$ 740	\$789	\$866

As of June 30, 2011 there were 1,031,227 shares available for grant, 2,416,877 options outstanding and 343,815 restricted stock units outstanding under the Company's stock option and equity incentive plans.

### 8. Net Loss per Share of Common Stock

The following table sets forth the computation of the Company's basic and diluted net loss per share of common stock during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands, except for share and per share amounts):

		Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,			
		2011		2010		2011	2010	)	
Net loss	\$	(4,763)	\$	(3,537)	\$	(7,967)	\$ (7,2	21 <u>9</u> )	
Shares used in computing net loss per share of common stock,									
basic and diluted	19,	,374,909	6	53,637	15	5,058,546	641,3	391	
Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted	\$	(0.25)	\$	(5.41)	\$	(0.53)	\$ (11	.26)	

## AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (A Development Stage Company)

#### Notes to Condensed Financial Statements—(Continued) (Unaudited)

The following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share of common stock for the periods presented because including them would have been antidilutive:

	June 30,		
	2011	2010	
Convertible preferred stock (as-if converted)		7,151,802	
Stock options to purchase common stock	2,416,877	1,954,735	
Restricted Stock Units	343,815	—	
Restricted shares of common stock subject to repurchase	—	33,277	
Convertible preferred stock warrants (as-if converted)	—	230,764	
Common stock warrants	506,917		

### 9. Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) includes unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities that are excluded from net loss. Comprehensive loss and its components are as follows (in thousands):

		Three Months Ended June 30,		is Ended 30,
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Net loss	\$ (4,763)	\$(3,537)	\$(7,967)	\$(7,219)
Changes in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities	(2)		(2)	
Comprehensive loss	<u>\$(4,765)</u>	\$(3,537)	\$(7,969)	\$(7,219)

#### Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which are subject to the "safe harbor" created by those sections. Forward-looking statements are based on our management's beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to them. In some cases you can identify forward-looking statements by words such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "would," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "projects," "predicts," "potential" and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. Examples of these statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding: the implications of interim or final results of our clinical trials, the progress of our research programs, including clinical testing, the extent to which our issued and pending patents may protect our products and technology, our ability to identify new product candidates, the potential of such product candidates to lead to the development of commercial products, our future expenditures for research and development, and the sufficiency of our cash resources. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the risks faced by us and described in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our other filings with the SEC. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of meta to file works we expect. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the unaudited financial statements and notes thereto included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included as part of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

#### Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of innovative therapies for the treatment of acute and breakthrough pain. We were founded to solve the problems associated with post-operative intravenous patient-controlled analgesia, or IV PCA. Although widely used, IV PCA has been shown to cause harm to patients following surgery because of the side effects of morphine, the invasive IV route of delivery and the inherent potential for programming and delivery errors associated with the complexity of infusion pumps. We are preparing to initiate three Phase 3 clinical trials for our lead product candidate, the Sufentanil NanoTab PCA System, or ARX-01. The system is designed to address these problems by utilizing:

- sufentanil, a high therapeutic index opioid;
- · NanoTabs, our proprietary, non-invasive sublingual dosage form; and
- our novel handheld PCA device that enables simple patient-controlled delivery of NanoTabs in the hospital setting and eliminates the risk of
  programming errors.

We have completed Phase 2 clinical development for two additional product candidates, the Sufentanil NanoTab BTP Management System, or ARX-02, for the treatment of cancer breakthrough pain, or BTP, and the Sufentanil/Triazolam NanoTab, or ARX-03, designed to provide mild sedation, anxiety reduction and pain relief for patients undergoing painful procedures in a physician's office. In May 2011, we announced that the US Army Medical Research and Material Command, or USAMRMC, awarded us a \$5.6 million grant to support the development of a new product candidate, ARX-04, a Sufentanil NanoTab for the treatment of acute pain. Under the terms of the grant, the USAMRMC will reimburse us for development, manufacturing and clinical expenses necessary to prepare for and complete the planned Phase 2 dose-finding trial in a study of acute moderate-to-severe pain, and to prepare to enter Phase 3 development.

We are a development stage company with a limited operating history. We have incurred net losses since inception and expect to incur losses in the future as we continue our research and development activities. To date, we have funded our operations primarily from the private placement of convertible preferred stock, proceeds from our initial public offering, or IPO, and proceeds received from our debt financings.

From inception through June 30, 2011, we have received net proceeds of \$54.9 million from the sale of convertible preferred stock and \$31.6 million from our debt financings. In February 2011, we completed our IPO, pursuant to which we sold 8,000,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of \$5.00 per share for an aggregate offering price of \$40.0 million. As a result of the offering, we received net proceeds of \$34.9 million, after underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses totaling \$5.1 million. In June 2011, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Hercules Technology II, L.P. and Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., collectively referred to as Hercules, under which we may borrow up to \$20.0 million in two tranches of \$10.0 million each, represented by secured convertible term promissory notes. We drew the first tranche of \$10.0 million upon the closing of the transaction on June 29, 2011. We used a portion of the proceeds from the first tranche to repay the remaining obligations under that certain loan and security agreement between us and Pinnacle Ventures, L.L.C, or Pinnacle dated September 2008. The second tranche of up to \$10.0 million can be drawn, at our option, anytime prior to December 16, 2011. The interest rate is initially 8.50%, with 12 months of interest only payments, which period can be extended to 15 months if certain ARX-01 clinical development milestones are met.

Since our inception in July 2005, we have not generated any revenue from the sale of our products and do not anticipate generating any product revenues for the foreseeable future. We have incurred losses and generated negative cash flows from operations since inception. Our net losses were \$7.9 million and \$7.2 million during the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010. As of June 30, 2011, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments totaling \$37.8 million compared to \$3.7 million as of December 31, 2010. As of June 30, 2011, we had an accumulated deficit of \$76.5 million.

Substantially all of our operating losses resulted from costs incurred in connection with our development programs and from general and administrative costs associated with our operations. We expect to incur significant and increasing expenses over the next several years, principally to develop ARX-01, including completion of the three planned Phase 3 clinical trials, as well as to further increase our spending to manufacture, sell and market our product candidates. Contingent on our ability to secure additional funding, we plan to submit a new drug application, or NDA, to the U.S. Food & Drug Administration, or FDA, following the completion of our three Phase 3 clinical trials. In addition, based on the availability of additional financial resources, we plan to advance one or more of our other product candidates into Phase 3 trials. Based on the funding provide by USAMRMC, we have adequate funds to advance ARX-04 through a Phase 2 clinical study and Phase 3 preparatory activities, however, additional funds would be required to advance ARX-04 into Phase 3 clinical studies. Furthermore, as a result of our IPO, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. As a result, we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating losses and negative cash flows for the foreseeable future.

#### **Financial Overview**

### Revenue

To date, we have not generated any product revenue. We do not expect to receive any revenues from any product candidates that we develop until we obtain regulatory approval and commercialize our products or enter into collaborative agreements with third parties. In May 2011, we received a grant award of \$5.6 million from the USAMRMC for the development of ARX-04, a Sufentanil NanoTab for the treatment of acute pain. Reimbursement of related research and development expenses will be recorded as revenue as incurred over the duration of the grant. To date, we have recognized \$40,000 as revenue associated with the grant.

#### **Research and Development Expenses**

The majority of our operating expenses to date have been for research and development activities related to ARX-01, ARX-02 and ARX-03. Research and development expenses consisted of:

- expenses incurred under agreements with CROs and clinical trial sites;
- · employee- and consultant-related expenses, which include salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation;
- · payments to third party pharmaceutical and engineering development contractors;
- payments to third party manufacturers; and
- depreciation and other allocated expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and equipment, depreciation of leasehold improvements and equipment and laboratory and other supply costs.

Conducting research and development is central to our business model. Though we have yet to initiate our first ARX-01 Phase 3 clinical trial, we have made progress, and expenses have increased, as we advance toward initiating the first Phase 3 clinical trial. Examples of these activities include:

- PharmaNet has been engaged as the contract research organization, or CRO, to conduct the first two ARX-01 Phase 3 studies and clinical sites have been identified for the abdominal surgery study and are engaged in the site selection process;
- The ARX-01 system design for the dispensing device has been finalized, and we have completed two of a total of four planned user studies. The remaining two user studies, and final software validation, are planned to be completed in the second half of 2011 and are required for review by FDA prior to initiation of ARX-01 Phase 3 studies;
- Construction of the NanoTab commercial manufacturing facility which will manufacture clinical and commercial supplies in a dedicated room at our contract manufacturer, Patheon, Inc., has been completed with facility qualification underway; and
- PharmaNet has been retained as the CRO to conduct the ARX-04 Phase 2 study that will evaluate two different doses of sufentanil in patients suffering from moderate-to-severe acute pain, and the clinical trial sites for this study have been selected.

We have completed multiple Human Factors and clinical tests during the course of development of the device for ARX-01. In 2011, we plan to complete 4 Human Factors studies that are required for review by the FDA prior to software validation, which is the last step in device development prior to initiation of Phase 3 studies. Two of the 4 Human Factor studies have been completed:

<u>Indicator Lights and Audio Tones (Sounds) User Study</u>. We evaluated multiple sound options for various device functions (dose delivered sound, dose not available sound, low level alert, nurse confirmation, and power on/power off) and tested indicator lights through a user study where test subjects were simulated patients. This input allowed the design team to determine the preferred sounds for each device function.



• <u>User "Patient" Study with Commercial System</u> - A prototype Phase 3 system, fully featured from a patient use perspective, incorporating the ergonomics, indicator lights, audio tones and the graphical user interface, all preferred in previous Human Factor studies, was developed for a simulated patient user study.

All subjects completed the study and were able to successfully dose themselves over the 24-hour period. Subjects rated their overall satisfaction as 4.4 on a 5 point scale (1=very dissatisfied to 5=very satisfied), indicating high satisfaction with the training, ergonomics, indicator lights, and ease of use of the NanoTab PCA System. Additionally, the subjects rated the device on the system usability scale, or SUS, awarding the device a score of 85 on a 0-100 point scale. This score is in the top 10% of SUS scores based on more than 500 devices tested.

There were two areas of suggested change by the subjects: to increase the volume of tones and to redesign the cap covering the device dispenser tips to fit more securely. Both of these features will be modified prior to the final stages of Human Factors testing and initiation of Phase 3 clinical studies.

In addition, there are 2 user studies expected to be completed over the next few months:

- <u>A Usability Study with Nurses</u> A usability study with nurses to demonstrate that the Sufentanil NanoTab PCA System can be set up safely and effectively by nurses, and to assess the effectiveness of the device labeling and instructions for use.
- <u>Usability Study with Nurses and Patients</u> A usability study with nurses and patients to demonstrate that the Sufentanil NanoTab PCA System
  can be used by representative users under simulated use conditions, including normal use conditions and unanticipated use conditions, and to
  validate the effectiveness of the Instructions for Use and training.

Product candidates in late stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of late stage clinical trials. We plan to increase our research and development expenses for the foreseeable future as we seek to complete development of ARX-01, execute activities associated with the clinical work related to ARX-04 and subsequently advance the development of ARX-02 and ARX-03 provided that additional funding or corporate partnership resources are available to support these programs.

We track external development expenses on a program-by-program basis. Our development resources are shared among all of our programs. Compensation and benefits, facilities, depreciation, stock-based compensation, and development support services are not allocated specifically to projects and are considered research and development overhead. Below is a summary of our research and development expenses during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

		Months June 30,	Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2011	2010 2011		2010	
ARX-01	\$1,466	\$ 48	\$2,355	\$ 116	
ARX-02		295		592	
ARX-03		424		1,578	
ARX-04	14		14		
Overhead	1,549	1,266	2,606	2,509	
Total research and development expenses	\$ 3,029	\$ 2,033	\$4,975	\$4,795	

Due to the inherently unpredictable nature of product development, development timelines, the probability of success and development costs can differ materially from expectations. While we are currently focused on advancing ARX-01 and ARX-04, and subsequently ARX-02 and ARX-03, our future research and development expenses will depend on the clinical success of each product candidate as well as ongoing assessments of the commercial potential of our product candidates. In addition, we cannot predict which product candidates may be subject to future collaborations, when these arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what degree these arrangements would affect our development plans and capital requirements. We expect our research and development expenses to substantially increase as we commence our planned ARX-01 Phase 3 clinical trials, and subject to additional funding, complete all the requisite preparatory activities to submit an NDA to the FDA. Additionally, our research and development expenses will increase as we initiate the planned ARX-04 Phase 2 clinical trial.

#### General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consisted primarily of salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation for personnel in administration, finance and business development. Other significant expenses included legal expenses to pursue patent protection of our intellectual property, allocated facility costs and professional fees for general legal, audit and consulting services. We expect general and administrative expenses to increase in connection with operating as a public company and as we continue to build our corporate infrastructure in support of continued development of our product candidates.

### Interest Expense

Interest expense consisted primarily of interest accrued or paid on our debt obligation agreements and amortization of debt discounts.

#### Interest and Other Income (Expense), net

Interest income consisted of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and investments.

Other income (expense), net consisted primarily of the change in the fair value of our then-outstanding warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock. Our warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities and, as such, were remeasured to fair value at each balance sheet date with the corresponding gain or loss from the adjustment recorded as other income (expense), net. Upon the completion of our IPO, all of our warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock were remeasured to fair value and were either exercised or converted into warrants to purchase common stock. At that time, the thencurrent aggregate fair value of these warrants was reclassified from liabilities to additional paid-in capital and we will no longer remeasure the liability associated with these warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock to fair value.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States which requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. In many instances, we could have reasonably used different accounting estimates, and in other instances, changes in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period-to-period. Accordingly, actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made by our management. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected. Our critical accounting policies and estimates are detailed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010. Aside from our revenue recognition policy related to our grant with the USAMRMC, as described in Note 1 on this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, there have been no significant changes in our critical accounting policies and estimates during the six months ended June 30, 2011 from those previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### **Results of Operations**

#### Comparison of Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

#### Revenue

Revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 was \$40,000 and was generated from our grant with the USAMRMC, which was awarded in May 2011. We did not generate any revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010.

#### **Operating Expenses**

	T	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,				
	(in tho	(in thousands, except percentage values)			(in thousands, except percentage values)					
	2011	2010	Change	%	2011	2010	Change	%		
Operating expenses:										
Research and development	\$ 3,029	\$ 2,033	\$ 996	49%	\$4,975	\$4,795	\$ 180	4%		
General and administrative	1,630	1,276	354	28%	3,220	1,948	1,272	65%		
Total expenses	\$4,659	\$ 3,309	\$1,350	41%	\$8,195	\$ 6,743	\$1,452	22%		

#### Research and Development

The \$1.0 million increase during the three months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2010 was primarily attributable to a \$1.4 million increase in our development expenses for ARX-01 related to the planned Phase 3 trials, partially offset by a decrease in development expenses of \$0.3 million related to the completion of Phase 2 clinical trials for our ARX-02 and ARX-03 programs.

There was not a significant change in research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2010. The increase in ARX-01 development expenses of \$2.2 million was largely offset by decreases in development expenses related to the completion of Phase 2 clinical trials for our ARX-02 and ARX-03 programs.

#### General and Administrative Expenses

The \$0.4 million increase during the three months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2010 was primarily due to an increase in legal, investor relations and other consulting fees associated with our operations as a public company.

The \$1.3 million increase during the six months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2010 was primarily due to an increase in legal, audit and consulting fees in connection with our annual audit and the costs associated with our operations as a public company.

### Interest Expense

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
	(in thousands, except percentage values)			(in thousands, except percentage values)			s)	
	2011	2010	Change	%	2011	2010	Change	%
Interest expense	\$156	\$214	\$ (58)	(27)%	\$1,514	\$458	\$1,056	231%

The \$58,000 decrease during the three months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2010 was due to decreased interest expense associated with the Pinnacle Ventures note, as it neared maturity. The Pinnacle Ventures note was paid off in full in June 2011.

The \$1.1 million increase during the six months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2010 was primarily attributable to interest and the debt discount amortization related to the \$8.0 million principal amount of convertible promissory notes issued in September 2010. The \$1.1 million in unamortized debt discounts was recognized as interest expense during the six months ended June 30, 2011 in connection with conversion of these notes immediately prior to the IPO.

#### Interest Income and Other Income (Expense), net

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
	(in thousands, except percentage values)			(in thousands, except percentage values)			s)	
	2011	2010	Change	%	2011	2010	Change	%
Interest Income and Other Income (Expense), net.	\$12	\$(14)	\$ 26	NA%	\$1,702	\$(18)	\$(1,720)	NA%

The change during the three months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2010 was not significant.

The \$1.7 million change during the six months ended June 20, 2011 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2010 was primarily attributable to the change in the fair value of our warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock and the write-off of the call option related to the convertible promissory notes issued in September 2010 which expired upon closing of the IPO.

### Liquidity and Capital Resources

#### Liquidity

Since inception, we have incurred significant annual net losses and we have funded our operations primarily through the issuance of equity securities and debt financings. From inception through June 30, 2011, we have received net proceeds of \$54.9 million from the sale of convertible preferred stock, \$34.9 million from our IPO and \$31.6 million from our debt arrangements. We have incurred losses and generated negative cash flows from operations since inception, and we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing losses and negative cash flows for the foreseeable future.

As of June 30, 2011, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments totaling \$37.8 million compared to \$3.7 million as of December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily attributable to proceeds from our IPO, during which we sold 8,000,000 shares at \$5.00 per share and received net proceeds of \$34.9 million, after underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses. Additionally, we drew down \$10.0 million in the current quarter from our loan and security agreement with Hercules which was established in June 2011. A portion of the proceeds were used to pay down the remaining obligations of \$2.8 million under our loan and security agreement with Pinnacle Ventures upon termination of the agreement.

Our cash and investment balances are held in a variety of interest bearing instruments, including obligations of U.S. government agencies, U.S. treasury debt securities, corporate debt securities and money market funds. Cash in excess of immediate requirements is invested with a view toward capital preservation and liquidity.

## Cash Flows

	Six Months End	ded June 30,
	(in thous	ands)
	2011	2010
Net cash used in operating activities	\$ (5,026)	\$(6,642)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	(18,730)	3,493
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	39,461	(2,230)

*Cash Flows from Operating Activities*. The primary use of cash for our operating activities during these periods was to fund the development of our product candidates. Our cash used for operating activities also reflected changes in our working capital and adjustments for non-cash charges, such as depreciation and amortization of our fixed assets, stock-based compensation, interest expense related to our debt financings, and the revaluation of our convertible preferred stock warrant liability.

Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2011 primarily reflects the net loss for the period, partially offset by a net change of \$2.2 million in our operating assets and liabilities primarily related to prepaid expenses and other assets and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. In addition, we had non-cash charges of \$1.3 million for interest on our debt and \$0.8 million in stock-based compensation which were offset by \$1.7 million of non-cash benefits for the revaluation of the warrant liability and the write off of the call option liability.

Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2010 primarily reflects the net loss for the period, partially offset by \$0.9 million in stock-based compensation.

*Cash Flows from Investing Activities.* Net cash used in investing activities for both periods primarily reflect purchases and maturities of investments. During the six months ended June 30, 2011 we had \$0.9 million in fixed asset additions which were reflected in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of June 30, 2011. The additions for the six months ended June 30, 2011 primarily relate to the construction of the NanoTab commercial manufacturing facility.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities. Cash flows from financing activities primarily reflect proceeds from the sale of our securities, proceeds from our debt financings and payments made on such debt financings.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011, cash provided by financing activities was primarily a result of the receipt of \$34.9 million in proceeds from our IPO, net of offering costs, proceeds of \$9.8 million from our debt agreement with Hercules, partially offset by principal repayments on our long-term debt of \$5.2 million, including payment in full of our remaining obligations under the Pinnacle agreement, which was terminated upon executing the Hercules loan agreement.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, cash used in financing activities was primarily a result of principal repayments on our long-term debt of \$2.3 million.

#### Operating Capital and Capital Expenditure Requirements

We expect our rate of cash usage to increase in the future, in particular, to support our product development activities. We believe that the available cash resources, including proceeds received from our IPO, debt financings, including full utilization of the \$20.0 million Hercules loan and USAMRMC research grant will enable us to maintain our currently planned operations into the first quarter of 2013, including support for our continuing development of our product candidates, clinical trials and manufacturing scale-up and commercial readiness activities. Future capital requirements will be substantial and if our capital resources are insufficient to meet future capital requirements, we will need to raise additional capital to fund our operations, including product candidate development activities. Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary materially. Additional capital may not be available in terms acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, or if the terms underlying potential funding sources are unfavorable, our business and our ability to develop our technology and product candidates would be harmed.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many forward looking factors and are not limited to the following:

- · the initiation, progress, timing and completion of clinical trials for our product candidates and potential product candidates;
- the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory approvals;
- delays that may be caused by changing regulatory requirements;
- the number of product candidates that we pursue;
- the costs involved in filing and prosecuting patent applications and enforcing and defending patent claims;
- the timing and terms of future in-licensing and out-licensing transactions;
- the cost and timing of establishing sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution capabilities;
- the cost of procuring clinical and commercial supplies of our product candidates;
- · the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products or technologies; and
- the possible costs of litigation.

#### **Contractual Obligations**

We are obligated to make principal and interest payments on our loan and security agreement with Hercules entered into in June 2011, as provided below.

		Payment by Period				
		Less than 1			More than 5	
Contractual Obligations:	Total	year	1-3 years	3-5 years	years	
Principle Payments on Long-term debt	\$ 10,000	\$	\$ 10,000	<u> </u>		
Interest Payments on Long-term debt	\$ 2,152	\$ 798	\$ 1,354	\$		
Total	\$12,152	\$ 798	\$11,354	\$		

As of June 30, 2011, we had operating lease obligations totaling \$0.4 million for our office and laboratory facilities in Redwood City, California. The lease expires in April 2012.

## **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

Through June 30, 2011, we have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements and do not have any holdings in variable interest entities.

Although we believe we have been prudent in our plans and assumptions, no assurance can be given that any goal or plan set forth in forward-looking statements can be achieved, and you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such statements, which speak only as of the date made. We undertake no obligation to release publicly any revisions to forward-looking statements as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include risk related to interest rate sensitivities.

Our market risks at June 30, 2011 have not changed materially from those discussed in Item 7A of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 as filed with the SEC.

#### **Item 4. Controls and Procedures**

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

*Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.* As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

*Changes in internal control over financial reporting.* There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

### **Item 1. Legal Proceedings**

None.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking information based on our current expectations. Because our actual results may differ materially from any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of us, this section includes a discussion of important factors that could affect our actual future results, including, but not limited to, our revenues, expenses, net loss and loss per share. You should carefully consider these risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as well as our other publicly available filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.

We have marked with an asterisk (\*) those risks described below that reflect substantive changes from, or additions to, the risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

#### Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Need for Additional Capital

#### We have incurred significant losses since our inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future. \*

We are a development stage company with limited operating history. To date, we have focused primarily on developing our lead product candidate, the Sufentanil NanoTab PCA System, or ARX-01. We have three additional product candidates, the Sufentanil NanoTab BTP Management System, or ARX-02, the Sufentanil/Triazolam NanoTab, or ARX-03 and Sufentanil Single-Dose Acute Pain NanoTab, or ARX-04. We have incurred significant net losses in each year since our inception in July 2005 and as of June 30, 2011, we had an accumulated deficit of \$76.5 million.

We have devoted most of our financial resources to research and development, including our non-clinical development activities and clinical trials. To date, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities and debt. The size of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future expenditures and our ability to generate revenues. To date, none of our product candidates have been commercialized, and if our product candidates are not successfully developed or commercialized, or if revenues are insufficient following marketing approval, we will not achieve profitability and our business may fail. Even if we successfully obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates in the United States, our revenues are also dependent upon the size of the United States, as well as our ability to obtain market approval and achieve commercial success.

We expect to continue to incur substantial and increased expenses as we expand our research and development activities and advance our clinical programs. We also expect an increase in our expenses associated with preparing for the potential commercialization of ARX-01 and creating additional infrastructure to support operations as a public company. As a result of the foregoing, we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating losses and negative cash flows for the foreseeable future.

#### We have never generated any product or commercial revenue and may never be profitable.

Our ability to generate revenue from commercial sales and achieve profitability depends on our ability, alone or with collaborators, to successfully complete the development, obtain the necessary regulatory approvals and commercialize our product candidates. Other than the revenue received from the USAMRMC for research and development reimbursement under the terms of the grant for ARX-04, we do not anticipate generating revenues from sales of our product candidates for the foreseeable future, if ever. Our ability to generate future revenues from product sales depends heavily on our success in:

- completing the clinical development of ARX-01, initially for the treatment of post-operative pain in the hospital setting;
- obtaining regulatory approval for ARX-01;

- launching and commercializing ARX-01, including building a hospital-directed sales force in the U.S. and collaborating with third parties internationally; and
- completing the clinical development, obtaining regulatory approval, launching and commercializing ARX-02, ARX-03 and ARX-04, which will
  require additional funding.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of increased expenses, when, or if, we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. In addition, our expenses could increase beyond expectations if we are required by the FDA to perform studies in addition to those that we currently anticipate.

Even if one or more of our product candidates is approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated with commercializing any approved product candidate. Even if we are able to generate revenues from the sale of our products, we may not become profitable and may need to obtain additional funding to continue operations.

#### We have a limited operating history that may make it difficult to predict our future performance or evaluate our business and prospects.

We were incorporated in 2005. Since inception, our operations have been primarily limited to organizing and staffing our company, developing our technology and undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials for our product candidates. We have not yet obtained regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. Consequently, any predictions you make about our future success or viability or evaluation of our business and prospects may not be accurate.

#### If we fail to obtain additional financing, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our product development programs.

Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is expensive. We expect our research and development expenses to substantially increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance our clinical programs. As of June 30, 2011, we had working capital of \$35.3 million.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and investments and available funds under the \$20.0 million debt facility with Hercules Technology II, L.P. and Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., collectively referred to as Hercules, will be sufficient to fund our current operations into the first quarter of 2013. We will need to raise substantial additional funds to support our future operations, and such funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Additionally, changing circumstances beyond our control may cause us to consume capital more rapidly than we currently anticipate. For example, we believe our existing cash resources are adequate to complete all three ARX-01 Phase 3 clinical trials, however, our clinical trials may encounter technical, enrollment or other difficulties that could increase our development costs more than we expected. In any event, we will require substantial additional capital to obtain regulatory approval for, and to commercialize, our product candidates. Raising funds in the current economic environment, when the capital markets have been affected by the global recession, may present additional challenges.

Securing additional financing may divert our management from our day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates. In addition, we cannot guarantee that future financing will be available in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when required or on acceptable terms, we may be required to:

- significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of our product candidates;
- seek corporate partners for ARX-01 at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available; or
- relinquish or license on unfavorable terms, our rights to technologies or product candidates that we otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves.

If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we will be prevented from continuing operations well into 2013 allowing for the completion the development efforts required to submit an NDA to the FDA and pursuing commercialization efforts, which will have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and prospects

## We may sell additional equity or debt securities to fund our operations, which may result in dilution to our stockholders and impose restrictions on our business.

In order to raise additional funds to support our operations, we may sell additional equity or debt securities, which would result in dilution to all of our stockholders or impose restrictive covenants that adversely impact our business. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities would result in the issuance of additional shares of our capital stock and dilution to all of our stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed payment obligations and could also result in certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we are unable to expand our operations or otherwise capitalize on our business opportunities, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected and we may not be able to meet our debt service obligations.

#### We might be unable to service our current debt due to a lack of cash flow and might be subject to default.\*

In June 2011, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Hercules, under which we may borrow up to \$20.0 million in two tranches of \$10.0 million each, represented by secured convertible term promissory notes. We drew the first tranche of \$10.0 million upon closing of the transaction on June 29, 2011. We used a portion of the proceeds from the first tranche to repay the remaining obligations under that certain Loan and Security Agreement between us and Pinnacle Ventures, L.L.C., dated September 2008. The second tranche of up to \$10.0 million can be drawn, at our option, anytime prior to December 16, 2011. The interest rate is initially 8.50%, with 12 months of interest only payments, which period can be extended to 15 months if certain ARX-01 clinical development milestones are met. Any notes issued pursuant to the loan and security agreement mature on December 1, 2014, which would be extended until March 1, 2015 if certain ARX-01 clinical development milestones are met. We granted to Hercules a first priority security interest in substantially all of our assets, with the exception of our intellectual property, where the security interest is limited to proceeds of intellectual property.

If we do not make the required payments when due, either at maturity, or at applicable installment payment dates, if we breach the agreement or become insolvent, Hercules could elect to declare all amounts outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and penalty, to be immediately due and payable. Even if we were able to prepay the full amount in cash, any such repayment could leave us with little or no working capital for our business. If we are unable to repay those amounts, Hercules will have a first claim on our assets pledged under the loan agreement. If Hercules should attempt to foreclose on the collateral, it is unlikely that there would be any assets remaining after repayment in full of such secured indebtedness. Any default under the loan agreement and resulting foreclosure would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and our ability to continue our operations.

### **Risks Related to Clinical Development and Regulatory Approval**

# We depend substantially on the success of our product candidate, ARX-01, which is still under clinical development, and may not obtain regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized.\*

We have not marketed, distributed or sold any products. The success of our business depends primarily upon our ability to develop and commercialize ARX-01, which has completed Phase 2 clinical trials for the treatment of post-operative pain. We expect to initiate one of the three planned Phase 3 clinical trials for ARX-01 in the second half of 2011 with a second Phase 3 clinical trial initiating in early 2012. We plan to begin a third Phase 3 clinical trial in the second half of 2012. We believe or existing capital resources will be adequate to support operations into the first quarter of 2013 and will be adequate to complete all three ARX-01 Phase 3 clinical trials. Contingent on our ability to raise additional funding, we intend to use these completed trials as a basis to submit an NDA for ARX-01 later in 2013. There is no guarantee that our Phase 3 clinical trials, or any of the remaining Phase 1 or non-clinical studies to be included in the NDA, will be completed, or if completed, will be successful.

Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, regulatory approval would prevent us from commercializing ARX-01, generating revenues and achieving profitability. If any of these events occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts for ARX-01, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and could potentially cause us to cease operations.

# We depend substantially on the successful completion of Phase 3 clinical trials for our product candidates. The positive clinical results obtained for our product candidates in Phase 2 clinical studies may not be repeated in Phase 3.

We have completed Phase 2 clinical studies and participated in three separate End of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA for ARX-01, ARX-02 and ARX-03, while ARX-04 is about to enter a Phase 2 clinical study. However, we have never conducted a Phase 3 clinical trial. Our product candidates are subject to the risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutical and medical device development. Before

obtaining regulatory approval for the commercial sale of any product candidate, we must successfully complete Phase 3 clinical trials. Negative or inconclusive results of a Phase 3 clinical study could cause the FDA to require that we repeat it or conduct additional clinical studies. Furthermore, while we have obtained positive safety and efficacy results for our sufentanil-based product candidates during our prior clinical trials, we cannot be certain that these results will be duplicated when our product candidates are tested in a larger number of patients in our Phase 3 clinical trials.

# Delays in clinical trials are common and have many causes, and any delay could result in increased costs to us and jeopardize or delay our ability to obtain regulatory approval and commence product sales. \*

We may experience delays in clinical trials of our product candidates. We expect to initiate one of the three planned Phase 3 clinical trials of ARX-01 in the second half of 2011 with a second Phase 3 study being initiated in the first half of 2012 and a third Phase 3 study starting in the second half of 2012. In addition, we expect to enter Phase 2 clinical studies with ARX-04 in the second half of 2011. Our planned clinical trials may not begin on time, have an effective design, enroll a sufficient number of patients, or be completed on schedule, if at all. Our clinical trials for any of our product candidates could be delayed for a variety of reasons, including:

- inability to raise funding necessary to initiate or continue a trial;
- delays in pharmacokinetic studies required to submit an NDA;
- · delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;
- delays in reaching agreement with the FDA on final trial design;
- delays in completing the required device Human Factor studies and software validation to the satisfaction to the FDA in order to initiate clinical trials;
- imposition of a clinical hold following an inspection of our clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities;
- delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and clinical trial sites;
- delays in obtaining required institutional review board approval at each site;
- delays in recruiting suitable patients to participate in a trial;
- · delays in the testing, validation, manufacturing and delivery of the device components of our product candidates;
- delays in having patients complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;
- clinical sites dropping out of a trial to the detriment of enrollment;
- · time required to add new clinical sites; or
- delays by our contract manufacturers to produce and deliver sufficient supply of clinical trial materials.

If initiation or completion of the planned Phase 3 trials or Phase 2 trial are delayed for our product candidates for any of the above reasons, our development costs may increase, our approval process could be delayed and our ability to commercialize and commence sales of our product candidates could be materially harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

# Our product candidates may cause adverse effects or have other properties that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval or limit the scope of any approved label or market acceptance.\*

Adverse events, or AEs, caused by our product candidates could cause us, other reviewing entities, clinical study sites or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical studies and could result in the denial of regulatory approval. Phase 2 clinical studies conducted by us with our ARX-01, ARX-02 and ARX-03 product candidates have generated some AEs, but no serious adverse events, or SAEs, related to the study drug. For example, in ARX-01 clinical studies completed to date, 11% of the patients experienced vomiting and 8% experienced itching for 10 mcg and 15 mcg treated groups, as compared to the placebo treated subjects, of which 6% experienced vomiting and none experienced itching. If SAEs related to the study drug are observed in any of our clinical studies, our ability to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates may be adversely impacted.

Further, if our products cause serious or unexpected side effects after receiving market approval, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

- regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product or impose restrictions on its distribution in a form of a modified Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS;
- regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as warnings or contraindications;
- we may be required to change the way the product is administered or conduct additional clinical studies;
- we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; or
- our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidate and could substantially increase the costs of commercializing our product candidates.

#### Additional time may be required to obtain regulatory approval for our ARX-01 product candidate because it is a drug/device combination.

ARX-01 is a drug/device combination. We have filed an IND for ARX-01. Based on our discussions with the FDA, we believe that ARX-01 will be reviewed as a combination product, with both drug and device components submitted in the IND, and both components will eventually be part of an NDA submission. There are very few examples of the FDA approval process for drug/device combination products such as ARX-01. As a result, we may experience delays in regulatory approval for ARX-01 due to uncertainties in the approval process, in particular as it relates to device approval under an NDA.

# After the completion of our clinical trials, we cannot predict whether or when we will obtain regulatory approval to commercialize any of our product candidates, and we cannot, therefore, predict the timing of any future revenue.\*

We cannot commercialize any of our product candidates, including ARX-01, until the appropriate regulatory authorities, such as the FDA, have reviewed and approved the product candidate. The regulatory agencies may not complete their review processes in a timely manner, or we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for ARX-01. Additional delays may result if ARX-01 is taken before an FDA Advisory Committee which may recommend restrictions on approval or recommend non-approval. In addition, we may experience delays or rejections based upon additional government regulation from future legislation or administrative action, or changes in regulatory agency policy during the period of product development, clinical studies and the review process.

# Even if we obtain regulatory approval for ARX-01 and our other product candidates, we will still face extensive regulatory requirements and our products may face future development and regulatory difficulties. \*

Even if we obtain regulatory approval in the United States, the FDA may still impose significant restrictions on the indicated uses or marketing of our product candidates, or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies or post-market surveillance. For example, the labeling ultimately approved for ARX-01 and our other product candidates will likely include restrictions on use due to the opioid nature of sufentanil. ARX-01 and our other product candidates will also be subject to ongoing FDA requirements governing the labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, safety surveillance, advertising, promotion, record-keeping and reporting of safety and other post-market information. The holder of an approved NDA is obligated to monitor and report AEs and any failure of a product to meet the specifications in the NDA. The holder of an approved NDA must also submit new or supplemental applications and obtain FDA approval for certain changes to the approved product, product labeling or manufacturing process. Advertising and promotional materials must comply with FDA rules and are subject to FDA review, in addition to other potentially applicable federal and state laws.

In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to payment of user fees and continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with current good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, and adherence to commitments made in the NDA. If we, or a regulatory agency, discover previously unknown problems with a product, such as AEs of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions relative to that product or the manufacturing facility, including requiring recall or withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing.

If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements following approval of our product candidate, a regulatory agency may:

- issue a warning letter asserting that we are in violation of the law;
- seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;
- suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;
- suspend any ongoing clinical trials;
- refuse to approve a pending NDA or supplements to an NDA submitted by us;
- seize product; or
- refuse to allow us to enter into supply contracts, including government contracts.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response and could generate negative publicity. The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our products and generate revenues.

# Even if we obtain FDA approval for ARX-01 or any of our product candidates in the United States, we may never obtain approval for or commercialize our products outside of the United States, which would limit our ability to realize their full market potential.

In order to market any products outside of the United States, we must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Clinical trials conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries, and regulatory approval in one country does not mean that regulatory approval will be obtained in any other country. Approval processes vary among countries and can involve additional product testing and validation and additional administrative review periods. Seeking foreign regulatory approval could result in difficulties and costs for us and require additional non-clinical studies or clinical trials which could be costly and time consuming. Regulatory requirements can vary widely from country to country and could delay or prevent the introduction of our products in those countries. We do not have any product candidates approved for sale in any jurisdiction, including international markets, and we do not have experience in obtaining regulatory approval in international markets. If we fail to comply with regulatory requirements in international markets or to obtain and maintain required approvals, or if regulatory approvals in international markets are delayed, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our products will be harmed.

#### ARX-01 and our other product candidates will require Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies.

The FDA Amendments Act of 2007 implemented safety-related changes to product labeling and require the adoption of REMS. Our product candidates will require REMS. The REMS may include requirements for special labeling or medication guides for patients, special communication plans to health care professionals and restrictions on distribution and use. While we have received information from the FDA regarding certain aspects of the required REMS for ARX-01, we cannot predict the specific REMS to be required as part of the FDA's approval of ARX-01. Depending on the extent of the REMS requirements, our costs to commercialize ARX-01 may increase significantly. ARX-02, ARX-03 and ARX-04, if approved, will also require REMS programs that may increase our costs to commercialize these product candidates. Furthermore, risks of sufentanil that are not adequately addressed through proposed REMS for our product candidates may also prevent or delay their approval for commercialization.

#### **Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties**

# We rely on third party manufacturers to produce our preclinical and clinical drug supplies, and we intend to rely on third parties to produce commercial supplies of any approved product candidates. \*

Reliance on third party manufacturers entails many risks including:

- the inability to meet our product specifications and quality requirements consistently;
- a delay or inability to procure or expand sufficient manufacturing capacity;
- · manufacturing and product quality issues related to scale-up of manufacturing;
- · costs and validation of new equipment and facilities required for scale-up;
- a failure to comply with cGMP and similar foreign standards;
- the inability to negotiate manufacturing agreements with third parties under commercially reasonable terms;
- · termination or nonrenewal of manufacturing agreements with third parties in a manner or at a time that is costly or damaging to us;
- the reliance on a limited number of sources, and in some cases, single sources for product components, such that if we are unable to secure a sufficient supply of these product components, we will be unable to manufacture and sell our product candidates in a timely fashion, in sufficient quantities or under acceptable terms;



- · the lack of qualified backup suppliers for those components that are currently purchased from a sole or single source supplier;
- operations of our third party manufacturers or suppliers could be disrupted by conditions unrelated to our business or operations, including the bankruptcy of the manufacturer or supplier;
- · carrier disruptions or increased costs that are beyond our control; and
- the failure to deliver our products under specified storage conditions and in a timely manner.

Any of these events could lead to clinical study delays, failure to obtain regulatory approval or impact our ability to successfully commercialize our products. Some of these events could be the basis for FDA action, including injunction, recall, seizure, or total or partial suspension of production.

# We rely on limited sources of supply for the drug component of our product candidates and any disruption in the chain of supply may cause delay in developing and commercializing our product candidates.

Currently we use two established suppliers of sufentanil citrate for our NanoTabs. For each product candidate, only one of the two suppliers will be qualified as a vendor with the FDA. If supply from the approved vendor is interrupted, there could be a significant disruption in commercial supply. The alternative vendor would need to be qualified through an NDA supplement which could result in further delay. The FDA or other regulatory agencies outside of the United States may also require additional studies if a new sufentanil supplier is relied upon for commercial production. In addition, the Drug Enforcement Administration, or the DEA, may reduce, delay or refuse our quota for sufentanil, which would disrupt our supply of sufentanil citrate and cause delay in the development and commercialization of our product candidates.

Currently, we use one supplier of triazolam for our ARX-03 NanoTabs. Switching triazolam suppliers may involve substantial cost and is likely to result in a delay in our desired clinical and commercial timelines.

These factors could cause the delay of clinical trials, regulatory submissions, required approvals or commercialization of our product candidates, cause us to incur higher costs and prevent us from commercializing them successfully. Furthermore, if our suppliers fail to deliver the required commercial quantities of active pharmaceutical ingredient on a timely basis and at commercially reasonable prices, and we are unable to secure one or more replacement suppliers capable of production at a substantially equivalent cost, our clinical trials may be delayed or we could lose potential revenue.

#### Manufacture of sufentanil NanoTabs requires specialized equipment and expertise.\*

Ethanol, which is used in the manufacturing process, is flammable, and sufentanil is a highly potent, Schedule II compound. These factors necessitate the use of specialized equipment and facilities for manufacture of sufentanil NanoTabs. There are a limited number of facilities that can accommodate our manufacturing process and we need to use dedicated equipment throughout development and commercial manufacturing to avoid the possibility of cross-contamination. If our equipment breaks down or needs to be repaired or replaced, it may cause significant disruption in clinical or commercial supply, which could result in delay in the process of obtaining approval for or sale of our products. Furthermore, we are using one facility to manufacturing facility to another. If equipment is damaged during the moving process, it may cause significant disruption in clinical supply, which could result in delay in the process of obtaining approval for or sale significant disruption in clinical supply, which could result in delay in the moving process, it may cause significant disruption in clinical or commercial facility to another. If equipment is damaged during the moving process, it may cause significant disruption in clinical or commercial supply, which could result in delay in the process of obtaining approval for or sale of our products. Any problems with our existing facility or equipment may delay or impair our ability to complete our clinical trials or commercialize our product candidates and increase our cost.

#### Manufacturing issues may arise that could increase product and regulatory approval costs or delay commercialization.

As we scale up manufacturing of our product candidates and conduct required stability testing, product, packaging, equipment and process-related issues may require refinement or resolution in order to proceed with our planned clinical trials and obtain regulatory approval for commercial marketing. In the past we have identified impurities in our product candidates. In the future we may identify significant impurities, which could result in increased scrutiny by the regulatory agencies, delays in clinical program and regulatory approval, increases in our operating expenses, or failure to obtain or maintain approval for our products.

Historically we have manufactured all our NanoTab supplies at Patheon in Toronto, Canada. We are currently in the process of transferring our manufacturing capabilities to Patheon's facility in Cincinnati, Ohio where we are building out a dedicated room within their existing buildings, that will serve as the manufacturing facility for clinical and commercial supplies of NanoTabs. In order to successfully produce the NanoTab supplies, the new facility must first be qualified and all equipment must successfully be transferred and qualified to produce the necessary clinical supplies and subsequently commercial supplies.



# Our designs for the device components of our product candidates for Phase 3 clinical trials may not be fully functional or commercially viable.

The ARX-01 device we plan to use in Phase 3 clinical trials and commercially, or Phase 3 device, has more features than the device used in Phase 2, including additional software and functionality. Although we have conducted multiple human factor and usability studies, the design of the ARX-01 Phase 3 device is still under development. We plan to complete additional user testing studies prior to the release of the device for Phase 3 clinical trials. However, we cannot predict if the Phase 3 device will be fully functional or acceptable for commercial use. If we need to modify the Phase 3 device either during or after the completion of the Phase 3 studies, we may incur higher costs and experience delay in regulatory approval and commercialization of ARX-01. Furthermore, if the changes to the device are substantial, we may need to conduct further clinical studies in order to have the commercial device approved by the FDA.

The dispensing components of all of our product candidates are under development. We cannot be certain that the dispensing components will be fully functional or acceptable for commercial use or that we will be able to effectively scale up the manufacturing process. Failure to do so may delay or prevent regulatory approval or commercialization of our product candidates.

# We have limited experience manufacturing the ARX-01 Phase 3 device on a clinical scale, no experience on a commercial scale and do not own or operate a manufacturing facility.

While we have manufactured Phase 3 devices internally on a small scale, we plan to rely on contract manufacturers, component fabricators and secondary service providers to produce ARX-01 devices for Phase 3 clinical trials and the commercial marketplace. We currently outsource manufacturing and packaging of the controller, dispenser and cartridge components of the ARX-01 device to third parties and intend to continue to do so. We may encounter unanticipated problems in the scale-up and automation process that will result in delays in the manufacturing of the ARX-01 cartridge, dispenser or controller.

We do not currently have any agreements with third party manufacturers for the manufacture of the Phase 3 device. We may not be able to enter into agreements for commercial supply of ARX-01 with third party manufacturers, or may be unable to do so on acceptable terms.

We may not be able to establish additional sources of supply for device manufacture. Such suppliers are subject to FDA regulations requiring that materials be produced under cGMPs, or Quality System Regulations, or QSR, and subject to ongoing inspections by regulatory agencies. Failure by any of our suppliers to comply with applicable regulations may result in delays and interruptions to our product candidate supply while we seek to secure another supplier that meets all regulatory requirements.

Reliance on third party manufacturers entails risks to which we would not be subject if we manufactured the product candidates ourselves, including the possible breach of the manufacturing agreements by the third parties because of factors beyond our control; and the possibility of termination or nonrenewal of the agreements by the third parties because of our breach of the manufacturing agreement or based on their own business priorities.

# We rely on third parties to conduct, supervise and monitor our clinical studies, and if those third parties perform in an unsatisfactory manner, it may harm our business.\*

We recently selected and executed agreements with our CRO to conduct our first two Phase 3 clinical studies for ARX-01 and for the Phase 2 study for ARX-04. We will rely on this CRO, along with other CROs, as well as clinical trial sites, to ensure the proper and timely conduct of our clinical trials. While we have agreements governing their activities, we have limited influence over their actual performance. We have relied and plan to continue to rely upon CROs to monitor and manage data for our ongoing clinical programs for ARX-01 and our other product candidates, as well as the execution of nonclinical studies. We control only certain aspects of our CROs' activities. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our studies is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory and scientific standards and our reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities.

Since our drug products are controlled substances, all of our contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, and CROs must follow proper DEA rules and procedures or comparable rules and procedures in other countries. Failure to properly follow these rules and procedures could result in DEA action, up to and including losing their license to work with controlled substances. This would result in a major delay in our clinical studies and/or NDA submission.

We and our CROs are required to comply with the FDA's current good clinical practices, or cGCPs, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of our product candidates in clinical development. The FDA enforces these cGCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and clinical trial sites. If we or our CROs fail to comply with applicable cGCPs, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. Upon inspection, the FDA may determine that our Phase 3 clinical trials do not comply with cGCPs. In addition, our Phase 3 clinical trials will require a sufficiently large number of test subjects to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of ARX-01. Accordingly, if our CROs fail to comply with these regulations or fail to recruit a sufficient number of patients, we may be required to repeat the Phase 3 clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process.

Our CROs are not our employees, and we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our ongoing clinical and nonclinical programs. These CROs may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical studies, or other drug development activities which could harm our competitive position. We face the risk of potential unauthorized disclosure or misappropriation of our intellectual property by CROs, which may allow our potential competitors to access our proprietary technology. If our CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations, fail to meet expected deadlines, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements, or for any other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize ARX-01, or our other product candidates. As a result, our financial results and the commercial prospects for ARX-01 and any future product candidates that we develop would be harmed, our costs could increase, and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed.

# Development of ARX-04 is dependent on funding from our government grant with the US Army Medical Research and Material Command, or USAMRMC.\*

In May, 2011, we entered into an award contract with the USAMRMC, effective June 1, 2011, in which the USAMRMC granted approximately \$5.6 million to us in order to support the development of our new product candidate, ARX-04, a sufentanil NanoTab for the treatment of acute pain. Under the terms of the grant, the USAMRMC will reimburse us for development, manufacturing and clinical costs necessary to prepare for and complete the planned Phase 2 dose-finding trial in a study of acute moderate-to-severe pain, and to prepare to enter Phase 3 development. The period of research under the grant ends on August 31, 2012, with a final report due on September 30, 2012. The grant gives the USAMRMC the option to extend the term of the grant and provide additional funding for the research.

Development of ARX-04 is dependent on the continued performance by the USAMRMC of its responsibilities under this agreement, including adequate continued funding of USAMRMC programs. We have no control over the resources and funding that USAMRMC may devote to this or future agreements, which may be subject to annual renewal and which generally may be terminated by USAMRMC at any time.

USAMRMC may fail to perform their responsibilities under the agreement, which may cause them to be terminated. In addition, we may fail to perform our responsibilities under the agreement. Our government agreement is subject to audits, which may occur several years after the period to which the audit relates. If an audit identifies significant unallowable costs, we could incur a material charge to our earnings or reduction in our cash position. As a result, we may be unsuccessful in entering, or ineligible to enter, into future government agreements.

There can be no assurances that this agreement will continue or that we will be able to enter into new contracts with USAMRMC or obtain funding from other sources to continue to support development of ARX-04 beyond the Phase 2 clinical study and preparation for Phase 3 activities. The process of obtaining USAMRMC contracts is lengthy and uncertain and we will have to compete with other companies for each contract. Further, changes in government budgets and agendas may result in a decreased and de-prioritized emphasis on supporting research and development programs, including ARX-04.

#### **Risks Related to Commercialization of Our Product Candidates**

# The commercial success of ARX-01 and our other product candidates will depend upon the acceptance of these products by the medical community, including physicians, patients and health care payors.

The degree of market acceptance of any of our product candidates will depend on a number of factors, including:

- demonstration of clinical safety and efficacy compared to other products;
- the relative convenience, ease of administration and acceptance by physicians, patients and health care payors;
- the prevalence and severity of any AEs;

- overcoming the perception of sufentanil as a potentially unsafe drug due to its high potency;
- limitations or warnings contained in the FDA-approved label for ARX-01;
- availability of alternative treatments;
- pricing and cost-effectiveness;
- the effectiveness of our or any future collaborators' sales and marketing strategies;
- our ability to obtain hospital formulary approval;
- our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient third party coverage or reimbursement; and
- the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of third party coverage.

If ARX-01 is approved, but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, patients and health care payors, we may not generate sufficient revenue from ARX-01 and we may not become or remain profitable.

# If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our product candidates, we may be unable to generate any revenue.\*

We currently do not have an organization for the sales, marketing and distribution of pharmaceutical products and the cost of establishing and maintaining such an organization may exceed the cost-effectiveness of doing so. In order to market any products that may be approved, we must build our sales, marketing, managerial and other non-technical capabilities or make arrangements with third parties to perform these services. We intend to enter into strategic partnerships with third parties to commercialize our product candidates outside of the United States. We will also consider the option to enter into strategic partnerships for our product candidates in the United States.

To date, we have not entered into any strategic partnerships for any of our product candidates. We face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners, and these strategic partnerships can be intricate and time consuming to negotiate and document. We may not be able to negotiate strategic partnerships on acceptable terms, or at all. We are unable to predict when, if ever, we will enter into any strategic partnerships because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with establishing strategic partnerships. Our strategy for ARX-01 is to develop a hospital-directed sales force and/or collaborate with third parties to promote the product to healthcare professionals and third party payors in the United States. Our future collaboration partners, if any, may not dedicate sufficient resources to the commercialization of our product candidates or may otherwise fail in their commercialization due to factors beyond our control. If we are unable to establish effective collaborations to enable the sale of our product candidates to healthcare professionals and in geographical regions, including the United States, that will not be covered by our own marketing and sales force, or if our potential future collaboration partners do not successfully commercialize our product candidates, our ability to generate revenues from product sales will be adversely affected.

If we are unable to negotiate a strategic partnership or obtain additional financial resources for ARX-02 or ARX-03, we may be forced to curtail the development of ARX-02 or ARX-03, delay potential commercialization, reduce the scope of our sales or marketing activities or undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. We are developing ARX-04 under a grant from USAMRMC and if a follow on grant from USAMRMC to cover Phase 3 costs is not obtained, we may be required to curtail all activities associated with ARX-04. In addition, without a partnership or additional grant funding, we would bear all the risk related to the development of ARX-02, ARX-03 or ARX-04. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or commercialization activities ourselves, we will need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we will not be able to bring ARX-02, ARX-03 or ARX-04 to market or generate product revenue.

If we are unable to establish adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, whether independently or with third parties, we may not be able to generate sufficient product revenue and may not become profitable. We will be competing with many companies that currently have extensive and well-funded marketing and sales operations. Without an internal team or the support of a third party to perform marketing and sales functions, we may be unable to compete successfully against these more established companies.

# If we obtain approval to commercialize our products outside of the United States, a variety of risks associated with international operations could materially adversely affect our business.

If our product candidates are approved for commercialization, we intend to enter into agreements with third parties to market ARX-01 outside the United States. We expect that we will be subject to additional risks related to entering into international business relationships, including:

- different regulatory requirements for drug approvals in foreign countries;
- reduced protection for intellectual property rights;
- unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements;
- economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;
- compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;
- foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;
- foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenues, and other obligations incident to doing business in another country;
- · workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;
- · production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and
- business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism, or natural disasters including earthquakes, typhoons, floods and fires.

# If we are unable to compete effectively, our product candidates may not reach their commercial potential. \*

The market for our product candidates is characterized by intense competition and rapid technological advances. If our product candidates obtain FDA approval, they will compete with a number of existing and future pharmaceuticals and drug delivery devices developed, manufactured and marketed by others. We will compete against fully integrated pharmaceutical companies and smaller companies that are collaborating with larger pharmaceutical companies, academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research organizations.

The primary competition for ARX-01 is the IV PCA pump, which is widely used in the post-operative setting. Leading manufacturers of IV PCA pumps include Hospira Inc., CareFusion Corporation, Baxter International Inc., Curlin Medical, Inc. and Smiths Medical. The most common opioids used to treat post-operative pain are morphine, hydromorphone and fentanyl, all of which are available as generics. Also available on the market is the Avancen Medication on Demand, or MOD, Oral PCA Device developed by Avancen MOD Corporation. Also in development is MoxDuo, an orally administered, fixed ratio combination of morphine and oxycodone being developed by QRx Pharma, an Australian company. This product is also in development as an IV product.

Additional potential competitors for ARX-01 include products in development, including the fentanyl iontophoretic transdermal system, IONSYS, originally developed by ALZA Corporation and Ortho-McNeil Pharmaceutical, Inc., both Johnson & Johnson subsidiaries, and currently under development by Incline Therapeutics, Inc.; and Rylomine, an intranasal morphine product developed by Javelin Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Our potential competitors for ARX-02 include products approved in the United States for cancer breakthrough pain, including: ACTIQ and FENTORA, currently manufactured by BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc.; and Abstral, currently manufactured by ProStrakan Group plc; as well as products approved in Europe, including: Instanyl, currently manufactured by Nycomed International Management GmbH. The active ingredient in all approved products for cancer breakthrough pain is fentanyl. Additional potential competitors for ARX-02 include products in late stage development for cancer breakthrough pain, such as: PecFent, currently manufactured by Archimedes Pharma Limited; Fentanyl TAIFUN, currently manufactured by Akela Pharma, Inc.; and SL Spray, currently manufactured by Insys Therapeutics, Inc.

It is possible that any of these competitors could develop or improve technologies or products that would render our product candidates obsolete or noncompetitive, which could adversely affect our revenue potential. Key competitive factors affecting the commercial success of our product candidates are likely to be efficacy, safety profile, reliability, convenience of dosing, price and reimbursement.

Many of our potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than we do and significantly greater experience in the discovery and development of drug candidates, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approval of products and the commercialization of those products. Accordingly, our competitors may be more successful than we are in obtaining FDA approval for drugs and achieving widespread market acceptance. Our competitors' drugs or drug delivery systems may be more effective, have fewer adverse effects, be less expensive to develop and manufacture, or be more effectively marketed and sold than any product candidate we may commercialize. This may render our product candidates obsolete or non-competitive before we can recover our losses. We anticipate that we will face intense and increasing competition as new drugs enter the market and additional technologies become available. These entities may also establish collaborative or licensing relationships with our competitors, which may adversely affect our competitive position. Finally, the development of different methods for the treatment of post-operative pain or breakthrough pain could render ARX-01 and ARX-02, respectively, non-competitive or obsolete. These and other risks may materially adversely affect our ability to attain or sustain profitable operations.

# Hospital formulary approval and reimbursement may not be available for ARX-01 and our other product candidates, which could make it difficult for us to sell our products profitably.

Obtaining formulary approval can be an expensive and time-consuming process. We cannot be certain if and when we will obtain formulary approval to allow us to sell our products into our target markets. Failure to obtain timely formulary approval will limit our commercial success.

Furthermore, market acceptance and sales of ARX-01, or any future product candidates that we develop, will depend on reimbursement policies and may be affected by future healthcare reform measures. Government authorities and third party payors, such as private health insurers, hospitals and health maintenance organizations, decide which drugs they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for ARX-01, or any future product candidates. Also, reimbursement amounts may reduce the demand for, or the price of, our products. If reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize ARX-01, or any future product candidates that we develop.

There have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the healthcare system in the United States and in some foreign jurisdictions that could affect our ability to sell our products profitably. These legislative and/or regulatory changes may negatively impact the reimbursement for our products, following approval. The availability of numerous generic pain medications may also substantially reduce the likelihood of reimbursement for ARX-01. The potential application of user fees to generic drug products may expedite the approval of additional pain medication generic drugs. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of ARX-01 and any other products that we develop, due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative changes. If we fail to successfully secure and maintain reimbursement coverage for our products or are significantly delayed in doing so, we will have difficulty achieving market acceptance of our products and our business will be harmed.

### **Risks Related to Our Business Operations and Industry**

# Failure to comply with the Drug Enforcement Administration regulations, or the cost of compliance with these regulations, may adversely affect our business. \*

Our sufentanil-based products are subject to extensive regulation by the DEA, due to their status as scheduled drugs. Sufentanil is a Schedule II opioid, considered to present the highest risk of abuse. The manufacture, shipment, storage, sale and use of controlled substances are subject to a high degree of regulation, including security, record-keeping and reporting obligations enforced by the DEA. This high degree of regulation can result in significant costs in order to comply with the required regulations, which may have an adverse effect on the development and commercialization of our product candidates.

The DEA limits the availability and production of all Schedule II substances, including sufentanil, through a quota system. The DEA requires substantial evidence and documentation of expected legitimate medical and scientific needs before assigning quotas to manufacturers. At present, our contract manufacturers have applied for a quota on our behalf which allocates a sufficient quantity of sufentanil to meet our planned clinical and pre-clinical needs during 2011 and 2012. In future years, we may need greater amounts of sufentanil to sustain and complete our Phase 3 development program for ARX-01, and we will need significantly greater amounts of sufentanil to implement our commercialization plans if the FDA approves ARX-01. Any delay or refusal by the DEA in establishing the procurement quota or a reduction in our quota for sufentanil or a failure to increase it over time as we anticipate could delay or stop the clinical development or commercial sale of ARX-01. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In addition, historically we have purchased sufentanil in the United States and have shipped it to our third party manufacturer, Patheon Inc. in Toronto, Canada, where much of our clinical trial manufacturing has been completed to date. Shipping across international borders is a bureaucratic process that takes a minimum of three months and requires permits for both import and export. If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements or fail to submit permit applications in a timely manner, the government could refuse to permit sufentanil to be exported and imported between Canada and the United States. Our failure to comply with these requirements could result in increased costs, delayed shipments, the loss of DEA registration for one of our suppliers, significant restrictions on ARX-01 or any of our product candidates, civil penalties or criminal prosecution and delays in conducting our clinical trials.

# Drug Enforcement Administration regulations require that sufentanil be manufactured in the United States if sufentanil-based products are to be marketed in the United States, and there is no guarantee that we will secure a commercial supply agreement with a manufacturer based in the United States.\*

A substantial portion of our clinical trial manufacturing to date has been completed at Patheon Inc. in Toronto, Canada. Because the DEA requires that sufentanil be manufactured in the United States if our product candidates are marketed in the United States, we are in the process of transferring our manufacturing capability from Patheon in Toronto, Canada to Patheon's production facility in Cincinnati, Ohio. There can be no assurance that there will be a successful transfer of the manufacturing capability to the Cincinnati facility, including the successful qualification of the NanoTab manufacturing equipment and the qualification of the new manufacturing facility.

In addition, we do not yet have a commercial supply contract in place. If we cannot establish a supply contract on commercially reasonable terms, or if facility modifications, equipment manufacture or modification do not meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates.

Switching or adding commercial manufacturing capability can involve substantial cost and require extensive management time and focus, as well as additional regulatory filings. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new manufacturing facility commences work. As a result, delays may occur, which can materially impact our ability to meet our desired commercial timelines, thereby increasing our costs and reducing our ability to generate revenue.

The facilities of any of our future manufacturers of sufentanil-containing NanoTabs must be approved by the FDA after we submit our NDA and before approval of ARX-01 and our other product candidates. We do not control the manufacturing process of sufentanil NanoTabs and are completely dependent on these third party manufacturing partners for compliance with the FDA's requirements for manufacture. In addition, although our third party manufacturers are well established commercial manufacturers, we are dependent on their continued adherence to cGMP manufacturing and acceptable changes to their process. If our manufacturers cannot successfully produce material that conforms to our specifications and the FDA's strict regulatory requirements, they will not be able to secure FDA approval for their manufacturing facilities. If the FDA does not approve these facilities for the commercial manufacture of sufentanil NanoTabs, we will need to find alternative suppliers, which would result in significant delays in obtaining FDA approval for ARX-01. These challenges may have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

#### Business interruptions could delay us in the process of developing our products and could disrupt our sales.

Our headquarters is located in the San Francisco Bay Area, near known earthquake fault zones and is vulnerable to significant damage from earthquakes. We are also vulnerable to other types of natural disasters and other events that could disrupt our operations. We do not carry insurance for earthquakes or other natural disasters and we may not carry sufficient business interruption insurance to compensate us for losses that may occur. Any losses or damages we incur could have a material adverse effect on our business operations.

### Our future success depends on our ability to retain key executives and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on principal members of our executive team, the loss of whose services may adversely impact the achievement of our objectives. While we have entered into offer letters with each of our executive officers, any of them could leave our employment at any time, as all of our employees are "at will" employees. Recruiting and retaining other qualified employees for our business, including scientific and technical personnel, will also be critical to our success. There is currently a shortage of skilled executives in our industry, which is likely to continue. As a result, competition for skilled personnel is intense and the turnover rate can be high. We may not be able to attract and retain personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical companies for individuals with similar skill sets. In addition, failure to succeed in clinical studies may make it more challenging to recruit and retain qualified personnel. The inability to recruit or loss of the services of any executive or key employee might impede the progress of our research, development and commercialization objectives.

# We will need to expand our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth, which could disrupt our operations. \*

As of June 30, 2011, we had 21 full-time employees. As our company matures, we expect to expand our employee base to increase our managerial, scientific and engineering, operational, sales, marketing, financial and other resources and to hire more consultants and contractors. Future growth would impose significant additional responsibilities on our management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain, motivate and integrate additional employees, consultants and contractors. Also, our management may need to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from our day-to-day activities and devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. We may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations, which may result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, give rise to operational mistakes, loss of business opportunities, loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. Our expected growth could require significant capital expenditures and may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the development of additional product candidates. If our management is unable to effectively manage our growth, our expenses may increase more than expected, our ability to generate and/or grow revenues could be reduced, and we may not be able to implement our business strategy. Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize ARX-01 and our other product candidates and compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth.

### We face potential product liability, and, if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability.

The use of our product candidates in clinical studies and the sale of any products for which we obtain marketing approval exposes us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims might be brought against us by consumers, health care providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our products. If we cannot successfully defend against product liability claims, we could incur substantial liability and costs. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:

- impairment of our business reputation;
- withdrawal of clinical study participants;
- costs due to related litigation;
- · distraction of management's attention from our primary business;
- · substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;
- the inability to commercialize our product candidates; and
- · decreased demand for our product candidates, if approved for commercial sale.

Our current product liability insurance coverage may not be sufficient to reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive and in the future we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. If and when we obtain marketing approval for our product candidates, we intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial products; however, we may be unable to obtain product liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms or in adequate amounts. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated adverse effects. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could adversely affect our results of operations and business.

#### **Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property**

# We have numerous pending patent applications in the United States, and one issued patent in Europe. If our pending patent applications fail to issue, our business will be adversely affected.\*

Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent protection for our product candidates, as well as successfully defending our current and future patents against third party challenges. To protect our proprietary technology, we rely on patents as well as other intellectual property protections, including trade secrets, nondisclosure agreements and confidentiality provisions.



In addition, there can be no assurance that our pending patent applications will result in issued patents. As of June 30, 2011, we are the owner of record and are pursuing 16 U.S. non-provisional patent applications, three pending international Patent Cooperation Treaty applications, 49 National Phase applications and ten European Regional Phase applications foreign directed to our product candidates. The patent applications that we have filed and have not yet been granted may fail to result in issued patents in the United States or in foreign countries. Even if the patents do successfully issue, third parties may challenge the patents.

The opposition period ended for our European patent, EP2114383 on April 21, 2011. On May 30, 2011 we received formal notification from the European patent authority that the opposition period ended with no opposition filed.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical companies, including us, can be highly uncertain and involve complex and evolving legal and factual questions. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in pharmaceutical patents has emerged to date in the United States. Legal developments may preclude or limit the scope of available patent protection.

# Litigation involving patents, patent applications and other proprietary rights is expensive and time consuming. If we are involved in such litigation, it could cause delays in bringing our product candidates to market and interfere with our business.

Our commercial success depends in part on not infringing patents and proprietary rights of third parties. Although we are not currently aware of litigation or other proceedings or third party claims of intellectual property infringement related to our product candidates, the pharmaceutical industry is characterized by extensive litigation regarding patents and other intellectual property rights.

As we enter our target markets, it is possible that competitors or other third parties will claim that our products and/or processes infringe their intellectual property rights. These third parties may have obtained and may in the future obtain patents covering products or processes that are similar to, or may include compositions or methods that encompass our technology, allowing them to claim that the use of our technologies infringes these patents.

In a patent infringement claim against us, we may assert, as a defense, that we do not infringe the relevant patent claims, that the patent is invalid or both. The strength of our defenses will depend on the patents asserted, the interpretation of these patents, and our ability to invalidate the asserted patents. However, we could be unsuccessful in advancing non-infringement and/or invalidity arguments in our defense. In the United States, issued patents enjoy a presumption of validity, and the party challenging the validity of a patent claim must present clear and convincing evidence of invalidity, which is a high burden of proof. Conversely, the patent owner need only prove infringement by a preponderance of the evidence, which is a lower burden of proof.

If we were found by a court to have infringed a valid patent claim, we could be prevented from using the patented technology or be required to pay the owner of the patent for the right to license the patented technology. If we decide to pursue a license to one or more of these patents, we may not be able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, or the license we obtain may require us to pay substantial royalties or grant cross licenses to our patent rights. For example, if the relevant patent is owned by a competitor, that competitor may choose not to license patent rights to us. If we decide to develop alternative technology, we may not be able to do so in a timely or cost-effective manner, if at all.

In addition, because patent applications can take years to issue and are often afforded confidentiality for some period of time there may currently be pending applications, unknown to us, that later result in issued patents that could cover one or more of our products.

It is possible that we may in the future receive, particularly as a public company, communications from competitors and other companies alleging that we may be infringing their patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights, offering licenses to such intellectual property or threatening litigation. In addition to patent infringement claims, third parties may assert copyright, trademark or other proprietary rights against us. We may need to expend considerable resources to counter such claims and may not be able to successful in our defense. Our business may suffer if a finding of infringement is established.

#### It is difficult and costly to protect our proprietary rights, and we may not be able to ensure their protection.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in pharmaceutical patents has emerged to date in the United States. The pharmaceutical patent situation outside the United States is even more uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in the patents that may be issued from the applications we currently or may in the future own or license from third parties. Further, if any patents license we obtain is deemed invalid and/or unenforceable, it could impact our ability to commercialize or partner our technology.

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain, and we cannot ensure that:

- we were the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications;
- we were the first to file patent applications for these inventions;
- others will not independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;
- any patents issued to us or our collaborators will provide a basis for commercially viable products, will provide us with any competitive advantages or will not be challenged by third parties; or
- the patents of others will not have an adverse effect on our business.

If we do not adequately protect our proprietary rights, competitors may be able to use our technologies and erode or negate any competitive advantage we may have, which could materially harm our business, negatively affect our position in the marketplace, limit our ability to commercialize our product candidates and delay or render impossible our achievement of profitability.

#### We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.

We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietary know-how and technological advances, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored researchers and other advisors to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary information. These agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets and proprietary information. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights. Failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could enable competitors to use our proprietary information to develop products that compete with our products or cause additional, material adverse effects upon our competitive business position.

# Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or applications will be due to be paid to the United States Patent and Trademark Office and various foreign governmental patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patents and/or applications. \*

We have systems in place, including use of third party vendors, to manage payment of periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other patent and application fees. The United States Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. If this occurs, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

#### We may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of some countries, particularly developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, especially those relating to life sciences. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or the misappropriation of our other intellectual property rights. For example, many foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents against third parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, patents may provide limited or no benefit.

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by courts in the United States and foreign countries may affect our ability to obtain adequate protection for our technology and the enforcement of intellectual property.

# We have not yet registered our trademarks in all of our potential markets, and failure to secure those registrations could adversely affect our business. \*

We have registered our ACELRX mark in Class 5, "Pharmaceutical preparations for treating pain; pharmaceutical preparations for treating anxiety," and Class 10, "Drug delivery systems; medical device, namely, a mechanical and electronic device used to administer medications, perform timed medication delivery, and to provide secure access to and delivery of medications," in the United States. Our ACELRX mark has also been registered in the European Community and in Canada, and is pending in India. We have registered our NANOTAB mark and a trademark application is pending for our tagline, ACCELERATE, INNOVATE, ALLEVIATE in Class 5, in the United States. Although we are not currently aware of any oppositions to or cancellations of our registered trademarks or pending applications, it is possible that one or more of the applications could be subject to opposition or cancellation after the marks are registered. The registrations will be subject to use and maintenance requirements. It is also possible that we have not yet registered all of our trademarks in all of our potential markets, and that there are names or symbols other than "ACELRX" that may be protectable marks for which we have not sought registration, and failure to secure those registrations could adversely affect our business. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings.

#### **Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock**

#### The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile.

Prior to our IPO in February 2011, there was no public market for our common stock. An active public trading market may not develop or, if developed, may not be sustained. Moreover, the trading price of our common stock is likely to be volatile. Our stock price could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a variety of factors, including the following:

- adverse results or delays in clinical trials;
- inability to obtain additional funding, including funding necessary to complete the third ARX-01 Phase 3 clinical trial required to submit an NDA;
- any delay in submitting an NDA for any of our product candidates and any adverse development or perceived adverse development with respect to the FDA's filing or review of that NDA;
- · failure to successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates;
- changes in laws or regulations applicable to our products;
- inability to obtain adequate product supply for our product candidates, or the inability to do so at acceptable prices;
- adverse regulatory decisions;
- introduction of new products, services or technologies by our competitors;
- failure to meet or exceed financial projections we provide to the public;

- failure to meet or exceed the estimates and projections of the investment community;
- the perception of the pharmaceutical industry by the public, legislatures, regulators and the investment community;
- announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our competitors;
- disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection for our technologies;
- additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel;
- significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation;
- changes in the market valuations of similar companies;
- · sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders in the future; and
- trading volume of our common stock.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the NASDAQ Global Market in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.

# Our common stock is thinly traded and in the future, may continue to be thinly traded, and our stockholders may be unable to sell at or near ask prices or at all if they need to sell their shares to raise money or otherwise desire to liquidate such shares. \*

To date, we have a low volume of daily trades in our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market. For example, the average daily trading volume in our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market during the second quarter of 2011 was approximately 15,000 shares per day. Our stockholders may be unable to sell their common stock at or above their respective purchase prices if at all, which may result in substantial losses to our stockholders.

The market for our common shares may be characterized by significant price volatility when compared to seasoned issuers, and we expect that our share price will be more volatile than a seasoned issuer for the indefinite future. As noted above, our common shares may be sporadically and/or thinly traded. As a consequence of this lack of liquidity, the trading of relatively small quantities of shares by our stockholders may disproportionately influence the price of those shares in either direction. The price for our shares could, for example, decline significantly in the event that a large number of our common shares are sold on the market without commensurate demand, as compared to a seasoned issuer that could better absorb those sales without adverse impact on its share price.

# Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and are able to exert significant control over matters subject to stockholder approval. \*

Our executive officers and directors, together with the stockholders with whom our executive officers and directors are affiliated or associated, beneficially owned approximately 78% of our outstanding voting stock as of August 1, 2011. Therefore, these stockholders have the ability to influence us through this ownership position. These stockholders are able to determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders, acting together, are able to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you may believe are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.

# We incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently implemented by the SEC and the NASDAQ Stock Market have imposed various requirements on public companies. Our management and other personnel need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, these rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to incur substantial costs to maintain our current levels of such coverage.

As a public company, we are subject to the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If we are unable to comply with Section 404 in a timely manner, it may affect the reliability of our internal control over financial reporting. Assessing our staffing and training procedures to improve our internal control over financial reporting is an ongoing process.

We plan to continue to assess our internal controls and procedures and intend to take further action as necessary or appropriate to address any other matters we identify. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm will also be required to deliver an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting beginning with the year ending December 31, 2012, unless we qualify for an exemption as a non-accelerated filer under the applicable SEC rules and regulations.

We have been and will continue to be involved in a substantial effort to implement appropriate processes, document the system of internal control over key processes, assess their design, remediate any deficiencies identified and test their operation. We cannot be certain at this time whether our measures to improve internal controls will be successful, that we will be able to successfully complete the procedures, certification and attestation requirements of Section 404 or that we or our independent registered public accounting firm will not identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to comply with the requirements of Section 404, it may affect the reliability of our internal control over financial reporting and negatively impact the quality of disclosure to our investors. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify and report a material weakness, it could adversely affect our stock price.

#### Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by our existing stockholders could cause our stock price to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock. As of August 1, 2011, we had 19,419,665 shares of common stock outstanding.

Substantially all of our stockholders that held stock prior to our IPO are subject to lock-up agreements with the underwriters of our IPO that restrict the stockholders' ability to transfer shares of our common stock until at least August 10, 2011. The lock-up agreements limit the number of shares of common stock that may be sold until the expiration of the lock-up period. Upon the expiration of the lock-up period, approximately 16,219,665 of the shares outstanding as of August 1, 2011 will become eligible for sale in the public market, subject in some cases to the volume limitations and manner of sale requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act. The remaining 3,200,000 shares of common stock outstanding as of August 1, 2011 are freely tradable without restriction or further registration. In addition, shares issued or issuable upon exercise of options and warrants vested as of the expiration of the lock-up period will be eligible for sale at that time. Sales of stock by our existing stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.

Certain holders of our securities are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, subject to the lock-up arrangement described above. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in the shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares held by our affiliates as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.

# Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause our stock price to fall.

We expect that significant additional capital will be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. To the extent we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience substantial dilution. We may sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. If we sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in more than one transaction, investors may be materially diluted by subsequent sales. These sales may also result in material dilution to our existing stockholders, and new investors could gain rights superior to our existing stockholders.

Pursuant to our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2011 Incentive Plan, our management is authorized to grant stock options and other equity-based awards to our employees, directors and consultants. The number of shares available for future grant under our 2011 Incentive Plan will automatically increase each year by 4% of all shares of our capital stock outstanding as of December 31 of the prior calendar year, subject to the ability of our board of directors to take action to reduce the size of the increase in any given year. Currently, we plan to register the increased number of shares available for issuance under our 2011 Incentive Plan each year. If our board of directors elects to increase the number of shares available for future grant by the maximum amount each year, our stockholders may experience additional dilution, which could cause our stock price to fall.

# We are at risk of securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. This risk is especially relevant for us because pharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management's attention and resources, which could harm our business.

#### Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a corporation undergoes an "ownership change," generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three year period, the corporation's ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes (such as research tax credits) to offset its post-change income may be limited. We may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to offset United States federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us.

# We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock so any returns will be limited to the value of our stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any return to stockholders will therefore be limited to the appreciation of their stock.

# Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us or increase the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders or remove our current management.

Some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management. These provisions include:

- authorizing the issuance of "blank check" preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued without stockholder approval;
- limiting the removal of directors by the stockholders;
- creating a staggered board of directors;
- prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;
- · eliminating the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders; and
- establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with an interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless such transactions are approved by our board of directors. This provision could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control, whether or not it is desired by or beneficial to our stockholders. Further, other provisions of Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging with us.

### Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

On February 10, 2011, our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-170594) was declared effective for our initial public offering, or IPO, pursuant to which we sold 8,000,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price of \$5.00 per share for an aggregate public offering price of \$40.0 million. As a result of the IPO, we received net proceeds of \$35.2 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses totaling \$4.8 million. None of the expenses associated with the IPO were paid to directors, officers or persons owning ten percent or more of our common stock or to their associates, or to our affiliates.

Approximately \$27.8 million of the net proceeds are expected to fund our pharmaceutical and engineering activities in anticipation of our Phase 3 studies. The net proceeds will also fund two of our three planned ARX-01 Phase 3 clinical trials, with the balance of the proceeds to be used for general corporate purposes. As of June 30, 2011, the net offering proceeds have been invested in high credit quality U.S. government agency obligations, corporate debt obligations and commercial paper. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) on February 11, 2011.

# Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

# Item 4. (Removed and Reserved)

# Item 5. Other Information

Not applicable.

# Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Number	Description of the Document					
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, currently in effect. (1)					
3.2	Bylaws of the Registrant, currently in effect. <sup>(2)</sup>					
4.1	Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 through 3.2.					
4.2	Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant. <sup>(3)</sup>					
4.3	Amended and Restated Investor's Rights Agreement, among the Registrant and certain of its security holders, dated as of November 23, 2009. <sup>(4)</sup>					
4.4	Warrant to Purchase Stock of the Registrant, issued to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., dated March 15, 2007. (5)					
4.5	Warrant to Purchase Preferred Stock of the Registrant, issued to Pinnacle Ventures II Equity Holdings, L.L.C., dated September 16, 2008. (6)					
4.6	Warrant to Purchase Stock issued to Hercules Technology II, L.P., dated as of June 29, 2011. <sup>(7)</sup>					
4.7	Warrant to Purchase Stock issued to Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., dated as of June 29, 2011. <sup>(8)</sup>					
10.1	2011 Cash Bonus Plan Summary. <sup>(9)</sup>					
10.2	Loan and Security Agreement among AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Hercules Technology II, L.P. and Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., dated as of June 29, 2011. <sup>(10)</sup>					
10.3	Award contract with the US Army Medical Research and Material Command dated May 26, 2011.					
31.1	Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.					
31.2	Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.					
32.1	Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*					
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document**					
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document**					
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document **					
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document **					
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document **					
<sup>(1)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068) as filed with the SEC on						

<sup>(1)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on February 18, 2011.

<sup>(2)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed with the SEC on January 7, 2011.

- <sup>(3)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed with the SEC on January 31, 2011.
- <sup>(4)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed with the SEC on November 12, 2010.
- <sup>(5)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed with the SEC on November 12, 2010.
- <sup>(6)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed with the SEC on November 12, 2010.
- <sup>(7)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on June 30, 2011.
- <sup>(8)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on June 30, 2011.
- <sup>(9)</sup> Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on May 16, 2011.
- (<sup>10)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on June 30, 2011.
- \* The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed "filed" by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- \*\* XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed herewith, is not a part of a registration statement or Prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.



# SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 11, 2011

# AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s/ James H. Welch

James H. Welch Chief Financial Officer (Duly Authorized and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

# EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhi Num		Description of the Document						
3.1		Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, currently in effect. (1)						
3.2	2	Bylaws of the Registrant, currently in effect. <sup>(2)</sup>						
4.1		Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 through 3.2.						
4.2	2 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant. <sup>(3)</sup>							
4.3	4.3 Amended and Restated Investor's Rights Agreement, among the Registrant and certain of its security holders, dated as of November 2 2009. <sup>(4)</sup>							
4.4		Warrant to Purchase Stock of the Registrant, issued to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., dated March 15, 2007. <sup>(5)</sup>						
4.5	5	Warrant to Purchase Preferred Stock of the Registrant, issued to Pinnacle Ventures II Equity Holdings, L.L.C., dated September 16, 2008. (6)						
4.6	5	Warrant to Purchase Stock issued to Hercules Technology II, L.P., dated as of June 29, 2011.						
4.7	7	Warrant to Purchase Stock issued to Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., dated as of June 29, 2011. <sup>(8)</sup>						
10.1		2011 Cash Bonus Plan Summary. <sup>(9)</sup>						
10.2	2	Loan and Security Agreement among AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Hercules Technology II, L.P. and Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., dated as of June 29, 2011. (10)						
10.3 Award contract with the US Army Medical Research and Material Command dated May 26, 2011.		Award contract with the US Army Medical Research and Material Command dated May 26, 2011.						
31.1	31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 1934, as amended.							
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulga as amended.		Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.						
32.1		Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*						
101.I	NS	XBRL Instance Document**						
101.8	БСН	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document**						
101.0	CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document **						
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document **		XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document **						
101.P	PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document **						
(1)		ted herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on 18, 2011.						
(2)								
(3)								
(4)	<sup>1</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed with the SEC on November 12, 2010.							
(5)		the derein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed						

- (5) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed with the SEC on November 12, 2010.
- <sup>(6)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-170594), as filed with the SEC on November 12, 2010.

- <sup>(7)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on June 30, 2011.
- <sup>(8)</sup> Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on June 30, 2011.
- <sup>(9)</sup> Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on May 16, 2011.
- (10) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35068), as filed with the SEC on June 30, 2011.
- \* The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed "filed" by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- \*\* XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed herewith, is not a part of a registration statement or Prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.

AWARD/CONTRACT 1. THIS CONTRACT IS A R UNDER DPAS (15 CFR 7(						RATING	PAGE	OF PAGE		
2. CONTRACT (Proc. Inst. Ident.) NO. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE			00) 1 14 4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQUEST /PROJECT NO. W23RYX1034N601							
S. ISSUED BY CODE W81XWH USAMED RESEARCH ACQ ACTIVITY 820 CHANDLER ST FORT DETRICK MD 21702-5014			6. A DMINIST ERED BY (If effer shee liew 5) 05 ARMY MEDICAL RESEARCH ACQUISITION ACT ATTN: CHASEN DEENER 201-519-5695 CODE WIIXWH CONSEN DEENER@AMEDD ARMY MIL FORT DEENER@AMEDD ARMY MIL							
7. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No. street, city, contry, state on OCERX PHARMACEUTICALS INC. 575 CHESAPEARE OR REDWOOD CITY CA \$1063-4724							THER (	See below)		
							TO THE ADDR	sherwise specified) ESS		
BLDG 1077 FORT DETRICK MD 21702				SHOWN IN: 12. PAYMENT WILL BE MADE BY DEFENSE FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING SERVICE DFAS ROME 255 BROOKS ROAD CUSTOMER SVC:1-800-555-0527 ROME NY 13441-4527						
13. AUTHORITY FO	R USING OTHER TH	AN FULL AND OF	PEN	14. AC	COUNTING	AND APP	ROPRIATION	NDATA		
COMPETITION: [ ] 10 U.S.C. 230		U.S.C. 253(c)(	)	See S	chedule					
15A. IT EM NO.	15B. SUP	PLIES/ SERVICES		15C. Q	UANTITY	15D. UN	IT I	ISE. UNIT PRICE	15F.	AMOUNT
		HEDULE			150	. TO TAL A	MOUNTOF	CONTRACT	\$5,59	8.600.00 E
(X) SEC.	BECODIDEIO		TABLE (		TENTS					
A) ISEC.	DESCRIPTION PARTI-THESCHI	and the second se	PAGE(S)	$\left  \left( x \right) \right $	EC.	PA		DESCRIPTION FRACTCLAUSES		PAGE
	TION/ CONTRACT F	ORM	1			RACT CLAU	USES			
	OR SERVICES AND P ION/ SPECS/ WORK		-			TOFDOC FATTACH		HIBITS AND OTH	ER ATTAC	CHMENTS
D PACKAGE	NG AND MARKING						the second s	ONS AND INSTRU	C TIO NS	
the second se	ON AND ACCEPTAN ES OR PERFORMAN		-	K REPRESENT AT IONS, CERT IFICATIONS AND						
	T ADMINISTRATIO			L INSTRS., CONDS., AND NOTICES TO OFFERORS						
H SPECIAL O	CONTRACT REQUIR					the second s	CT ORS FOR	the second se		
item sorperform all the survice item for the conditeration mut contract shall be subject to and (b) the solution, if any, and is as are attracted or incorporated (Attachments are listed becein 19A. NAME AND TI JAM 19B. NAME OF CON BY	OUTLATED AGREENENT is to isning office.) Cease is to isning office.) Cease is a sufforh oc observise ideading de berein. The rights and ebiling governed by the following doo (c) such provisions, representant by reference berein. ) TLE OF SIGNER (7); MCS Welch TRACTOR	ations of the parties to this uments: (a) this award/con ona, certifications, and spe pe or print)	sign this I de liver all insuition ntract, sciffications,	18. [ ] including above, is the contr. (b) this a 20 A. N BLOSSO TEL: 30 20 B. U	AWARD (Cont the additions or c hereby accepted set which consists ward/contract. N	Actor is not required as to be loss as to be loss as to be loss as to be loss as to the loss as to the loss as to the following to further contract DNT RACTING ATES OF AM	ired to sign fhis doc you which addition the above and on a docum entric (a) the that docum entries to NG OFFICER OFFICER EM MERICA D	ument.) Year offer or as or changes are net forth in ny coachanation sheets. This e Governm ent's solicitation a eccessary. CALL: blossom.widder	eus.army.m 20C. DA	m ates and
	sen anhorized to sign) REPRODUCTION			I		(Signature o	fContracting Office	STA	NDARD FOR scribed by GS t (48 CFR) 53.2	

Page 2 of 14

# Section 00010 - Solicitation Contract Form

ITEM NO	SUPPLIES/SERVICES	Q	UANTITY	UNIT	UNIT PRICE	AMOUNT
0001				Dollars,	,	
				U.S.		\$ 5,598,600.00
	Sufentanil NanoTab Study					
	COST					
	A Non-Invasive, Rapid-Acting, Sublingual Sufentanil NanoTab for Treatment of Acute Pain Due to Battlefield Injuries. Conduct study IAW proposal dated 05 November 2010. Period of Performance 01 June 2011 to 30 September 2012 (Research ends 31 August 2012; Final Report due 30 September 2012).					
	Grant. New start ERMS 11301005.					
	GOR will be Dr. Tony Gover.					
	FOB: Destination					
	MILSTRIP: W23RYX1034N601					
	PURCHASE REQUEST NUMBER: W2	3RYX1034N601				
					ESTIMATED COST	\$5,598,600.00 (EST.)
	ACRN AA				ESTIMATED COST	\$ 5,598,600.00 (ES1.) \$ 5,598,600.00
	ACRN AA CIN: W23RYX1034N6010001				\$ 5,578,000.00	
	CIN. W25K1X1054N0010001					
INSPECT	FION AND ACCEPTANCE TERMS					
Supplies/	services will be inspected/accepted at:					
Supplies	services will be inspected/accepted at.					
	INSPECT AT N/A	INSPECT BY N/A	ACCEPT N/A	AT		ACCEPT BY Government
DELIVE	RY INFORMATION					
CLIN		DELIVERY DATE	QUANT	TTY	SHIP TO ADDRESS	UIC
0001	POP 01- 30-SEP-2	UN-2011 TO 012	Ν	10 BI FC	SA MED RESEARCH MAT )77 PATCHEL STREET LDG 1077 ORT DETRICK MD 21702 OB: Destination	CMD W91ZSQ

Section 00700 - Contract Clauses

# CLAUSES INCORPORATED BY FULL TEXT

A. This award is made under the authority of 31 U.S.C. 6304 and 10 U.S.C. 2358. The recipient's statement of work and the budget of the proposal dated 05 November 2010 are incorporated herein by reference. The Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number relative to this award is CFDA 12.420.

**B.** ACCEPTANCE OF AWARD: The recipient is not required to countersign this assistance award. In case of disagreement, the recipient shall notify the Grants Officer and not assess the award any costs until such disagreement(s) is resolved.

**C. USAMRAA GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:** This assistance agreement is subject to the USAMRAA General Terms and Conditions and to any special considerations as contained in the below mentioned Section titled "Special Terms and Conditions". These USAMRAA General Terms and Conditions are incorporated by reference with the same force and effect as if they were given in full text. The full text of the USAMRAA General Terms and Conditions may be accessed electronically at http://www.usamraa.army.mil.

# **D. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS**

# 1. CLINICAL TRIAL QUARTERLY TECHNICAL PROGRESS REPORTS (DEC 2008) (USAMRAA)

**a**. For all awards proposing phase 0-II clinical trials, the PI is required to submit quarterly reports to the Grants Officer's Representative (GOR) that outline the following progress: accruals, amendments submitted for IRB review, adverse events, and serious adverse events. The PI should also discuss any problems or barriers they have encountered if applicable as well as any preliminary results. Discussion may focus on the current status of this study, their current enrollment and their planned enrollment. Discussion may highlight enrollment problems or retention problems, if any. The report may outline the issues the PI has encountered and what has been done to mitigate those issues. PI should address all the possible questions in the report, such as; when did the PI start accruing patients; what has been the rate of patient accrual; what problems have they encountered with patient accrual; what actions have they taken to increase accrual; what is the projected future accrual; what is the rationale for the accrual rate etc.

The PI shall submit a Quarterly Technical Progress Report covering work accomplished during each of the first three quarters of award performance. A Quarterly Technical Progress Report for the fourth quarter will not be required, as the annual technical report will incorporate all four quarters of progress. The Quarterly Technical Progress Report shall be brief, factual, and informal, and shall be prepared in accordance with the following:

- (1) Cover containing:
  - (a) Grant/Cooperative Agreement number and title
  - (b) Type of report, sequence number of report, and period of performance being reported
  - (c) Recipient's name, address, and telephone number
  - (d) Principal Investigator name, address and telephone number
  - (e) Date of publication
  - (f) Grants Officer's Representative name
- (2) Section I A brief introduction covering the purpose and scope of the research effort.

(3) Section II - A brief description of overall progress to date plus a separate description for each task or other logical segment of work on which effort was expended during the report period. Description shall include pertinent data and graphs in sufficient detail to explain any significant results achieved. If this award includes the recruitment of human subjects for clinical research or a clinical trial, report progress on subject recruitment (i.e., number of subjects enrolled versus total number proposed).

Page 4 of 14

(4) Section III - Problem Areas

(a) A description of current problems that may impede performance along with proposed corrective action.

(b) A description of anticipated problems that have a potential to impede progress and what corrective action is planned should the problem materialize.

(5) Section IV - A description of work to be performed during the next reporting period.

(6) Section V - Administrative Comments (Optional) - Description of proposed site visits and participation in technical meetings, journal manuscripts in preparation, coordination with other organizations conducting related work, etc.

**b**. Quarterly Technical Progress Reports shall submitted to the following e-mail addresses within 10 days of the end of the report quarter. Please incorporate in the Subject Line of the e-mail the USAMRAA Grant/Cooperative award number associated with this award. The Quarterly Technical Progress Report shall be emailed to the following addresses:

Email: tony.d.gover@us.army.mil Email: chasen.deener@amedd.army.mil

# 2. TECHNICAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS (DEC 2008) (USAMRAA)

# **QUARTERLY REPORTS**

a. Quarterly reports are the most immediate and direct contact between the Principal Investigator (PI) and the Grants Officer's Representative (GOR). The reports provide the means for keeping this Command advised of developments and problems as the research effort proceeds. The quarterly reports also provide a measure against which decisions on release of funding and on requests for supplements are made.

b. In accordance with Section C, a Quarterly Report shall be submitted for each three-month period beginning with the effective date of the assistance agreement. This requirement includes all three-month periods of the assistance agreement.

c. Copies of each report shall be submitted in the quantities indicated to the addresses shown below within fifteen (15) days after the end of each quarter. Internal Government distribution will be made by those offices (electronic submission preferred).

(1) One (1) copy of the report to:

tony.d.gover@us.army.mil

(2) One (1) copy of the report to:

chasen.deener@amedd.army.mil

d. The Quarterly Report sample (See following Quarterly Report Format) shall serve as the format. Each item of the report format shall be

completed.

Page 5 of 14

# QUARTERLY REPORT FORMAT

1. Award No.			2. Report Date				
3. Reporting period from			to				
4. PI		5. Telephone No.					
6. Institution							
7. Project Title							
8. Current staff, with percent	effort of each on project.						
-		%			%		
		%			%		
9. Award expenditures to dat	e (as applicable):						
Т	his Qtr/Cumulative			This Qtr/Cumulative			
Personnel	/		Travel	/			
Fringe Benefits	/		Equipment	/			
Supplies	/		Other	/			
				This Qtr/Cumulative			
		Subtotal		/			
		Indire	ct Costs	/			
		Fee		/			
		Total		/			
10. Comments on administra	tive and logistical matters.						

11. Use additional page(s), as necessary, to describe scientific progress for the quarter in terms of the tasks or objectives listed in the statement of work for this assistance agreement.

12. Use additional page(s) to present a brief statement of plans or milestones for the next quarter.

# 3. TECHNICAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS (DEC 2008) (USAMRAA)

Format Requirements for Annual/Final Reports

a. Annual reports must provide a complete summary of the research accomplishments to date with respect to the approved Statement of Work. Journal articles can be substituted for detailed descriptions of specific aspects of the research, but the original articles must be attached to the report as an appendix and appropriately referenced in the text. The importance of the report to decisions relating to continued support of the research cannot be overemphasized. An annual report shall be submitted within 30 calendar days of the anniversary date of the award for the preceding 12 month period. If the award period of performance is extended by the Grants Officer, then an annual report must still be submitted within 30 days of the anniversary date of the award. A final report will be due upon completion of the extended performance date that describes the entire research effort.

b. A final report summarizing the entire research effort, citing data in the annual reports and appended publications shall be submitted at the end of the award performance period. The final report will provide a complete reporting of the research findings. Journal publications can be substituted for detailed descriptions of specific aspects of the research, but an original copy of each publication must be attached as an appendix and appropriately referenced in the text. All final reports must include a bibliography of all publications and meeting abstracts and a list of personnel (not salaries) receiving pay from the research effort.

Although there is no page limitation for the reports, each report shall be of sufficient length to provide a thorough description of the accomplishments with respect to the approved Statement of Work. Submission of the report in electronic format (PDF or Word file only), shall be submitted to <a href="https://ers.amedd.army.mil">https://ers.amedd.army.mil</a>.

All reports shall have the following elements in this order

FRONT COVER: Sample front cover provided at <u>https://mrmc.amedd.army.mil/rrpindex.asp</u>. The Accession Document (AD) Number should remain blank.

STANDARD FORM 298: Sample SF 298 provided at <u>https://mrmc.amedd.army.mil/rrpindex.asp</u>. The abstract in Block 13 must state the purpose, scope, major findings and be an up-to-date report of the progress in terms of results and significance. Subject terms are keywords that may have previously assigned to the proposal abstract or are keywords that may be significant to the research. The number of pages shall include all pages that have printed data (including the front cover, SF 298, table of contents, and all appendices). Please count pages carefully to ensure legibility and that there are no missing pages as this delays processing of reports. Page numbers should be typed: please do not hand number pages.

TABLE OF CONTENTS: Sample table of contents provided at https://mrmc.amedd.army.mil/rrpindex.asp.

INTRODUCTION: Narrative that briefly (one paragraph) describes the subject, purpose and scope of the research.

BODY: This section of the report shall describe the research accomplishments associated with each task outlined in the approved Statement of Work. Data presentation shall be comprehensive in providing a complete record of the research findings for the period of the report. Provide data explaining the relationship of the most recent findings with that of previously reported findings. Appended publications and/or presentations may be substituted for detailed descriptions of methodology but must be referenced in the body of the report. If applicable, for each task outlined in the Statement of Work, reference appended publications and/or presentations for details of result findings and tables and/or figures. The report shall include negative as well as positive findings. Include problems in accomplishing any of the tasks. Statistical tests of significance shall be applied to all data whenever possible. Figures and graphs referenced in the text may be embedded in the text or appended. Figures and graphs can also be referenced in the text and appended to a publication. Recommended changes or future work to better address the research topic may also be included, although changes to the original Statement of Work must be approved by the Army Grants Officer's Representative. This approval must be obtained prior to initiating any change to the original Statement of Work.

KEY RESEARCH ACCOMPLISHMENTS: Bulleted list of key research accomplishments emanating from this research.

REPORTABLE OUTCOMES: Provide a list of reportable outcomes that have resulted from this research to include:

manuscripts, abstracts, presentations; patents and licenses applied for and/or issued; degrees obtained that are supported by this award; development of cell lines, tissue or serum repositories; infomatics such as databases and animal models, etc.; funding applied for based on work supported by this award; employment or research opportunities applied for and/or received based on experience/training supported by this award.

CONCLUSION: Summarize the results to include the importance and/or implications of the completed research and when necessary, recommend changes on future work to better address the problem. A "so what section" which evaluates the knowledge as a scientific or medical product shall also be included in the conclusion of the report.

REFERENCES: List all references pertinent to the report using a standard journal format (i.e. format used in Science, Military Medicine, etc.).

APPENDICES: Attach all appendices that contain information that supplements, clarifies or supports the text. Examples include original copies of journal articles, reprints of manuscripts and abstracts, a curriculum vitae, patent applications, study questionnaires, and surveys, etc.

Pages shall be consecutively numbered throughout the report. DO NOT RENUMBER PAGES IN THE APPENDICES.

Mark all pages of the report which contain proprietary or unpublished data that should be protected by the U.S. Government. REPORTS NOT PROPERLY MARKED FOR LIMITATION WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AS APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE. It is the responsibility of the Principal Investigator to advise the U.S. Army Medical Research and Materiel Command when restricted limitation assigned to a document can be downgraded to Approved for Public Release. DO NOT USE THE WORD "CONFIDENTIAL" WHEN MARKING DOCUMENTS.

# 4. COST REIMBURSEMENT PAYMENTS AND FULL FUNDING (NOV 2000) (USAMRAA)

a. Payments. Payments under this award shall be made to the recipient on a cost reimbursement basis. The recipient shall submit one original Standard Form 270, Request for Advance or Reimbursement (form available on web site http://www.usamraa.army.mil), monthly, but not less frequently than quarterly, to:

# USAMRAA.goldteam@AMEDD.ARMY.MIL

No payment will be made if the recipient fails to submit the required form. Failure to invoice at least quarterly may result in delay of payment and may be cause for termination of the grant.

Questions relative to payment issues involving Defense Finance and Accounting Service shall be directed to:

USAMRAA.goldteam@AMEDD.ARMY.MIL

b. Financial Reporting Requirements:

Federal Financial Report (SF 425): Annual and Final Reports (For reporting individual assistance agreements)

Reporting period end dates fall on the end of the calendar year for annual reports (12/31) and the end date of the assistance agreement performance period of performance for the final report. Reports are due 30 days after the reporting period end date for annual reports and 90 days after the end date of the assistance agreement for the final report.

The SF425 and instructions for completion can be obtained from https://usamraa.army.mil. All SF425's shall be submitted electronically to USAMRAASF425@amedd.army.mil. The award number assigned by USAMRAA, which looks similar to W81X WH-XX-X-XXXX shall be included in the subject line of the electronic submission.

NOTE: The SF425 is a single form that consolidates and replaces the Federal Cash Transaction Report (SF272.SF272A) and the Financial Status Report (SF269/SF269A)

c. Electronic Funds Transfer. All payments to the recipient will be made by electronic funds transfer (EFT). The recipient shall contact the Defense Finance and Accounting System (DFAS) named on the face page of this award to make arrangements for EFT. Failure to do so may result in nonpayment.

# 5. PROHIBITION OF USE OF LABORATORY ANIMALS (JAN 2007) (USAMRAA) \*\* <u>PROHIBITION – READ FURTHER FOR DETAILS \*\*</u>

Notwithstanding any other provisions contained in this award or incorporated by reference herein, the contractor is expressly forbidden to use or subcontract for the use of laboratory animals in any manner whatsoever without the express written approval of the US Army Medical Research and Materiel Command, Animal Care and Use Office (ACURO). The contractor will receive written approval to begin research under the applicable protocol proposed for this award from the US Army Medical Research and Materiel Command, ACURO, under separate letter. A copy of this approval will be provided to the US Army Medical Research and Acquisition Activity for the official file. Non-compliance with any provision of this clause may result in the termination of the award.

# 6. PROHIBITION OF HUMAN RESEARCH (JAN 2007) (USAMRAA)

# \*\* PROHIBITION – READ FURTHER FOR DETAILS \*\*

Research under this award involving the use of human subjects, to include the use of human anatomical substances and/or human data, may not begin until the U.S. Army Medical Research and Materiel Command's Office of Research Protections, Human Research Protections Office (HRPO) approves the protocol. Written approval to begin research or subcontract for the use of human subjects under the applicable protocol proposed for this award will be issued from the US Army Medical Research and Materiel Command, HRPO, under separate letter to the contractor. A copy of this approval will be provided to the US Army Medical Research Acquisition Activity for the official file. Non-compliance with any provision of this clause may result in withholding of funds and or the termination of the award.

# 7. PROHIBITION OF USE OF HUMAN CADAVERS (JAN 2007) (USAMRAA) \*\* PROHIBITION – READ FURTHER FOR DETAILS\*\*

Research under this award using human cadavers may not begin until the U.S. Army Medical Research and Materiel Command's Office of Research Protections, Human Research Protections Office (HRPO) approves the protocol. Written approval to begin research or subcontract for the use of human cadavers under the applicable protocol proposed for this award will be issued from the US Army Medical Research and Materiel Command, HRPO, under separate letter to the contractor. A copy of this approval will be provided to the US Army Medical Research Acquisition Activity for the official file. Noncompliance with any provision of this clause may result in withholding of funds and or the termination of the award.

### 8. MAXIMUM OBLIGATION (SEP 2006) (USAMRAA)

The maximum obligation for support of the project will not exceed the amount specified in the award, as amended. USAMRAA does not amend assistance agreements to provide additional funds for such purposes as reimbursement for unrecovered indirect costs resulting from the establishment of final negotiated rates or for increases in salaries, fringe benefits and other costs.

# 9. OPTION TO EXTEND THE TERM OF THE ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT (MAR 2008) (USAMRAA)

a. The Government may extend the term of this assistance agreement by issuance of a modification that provides additional funding for continued performance of the research effort. The modification will be issued prior to the expiration date of the assistance agreement. Inclusion of this term does not commit the Government to an extension.

- b. Exercise of this option is contingent upon receipt of appropriated funds and acceptable performance by the recipient.
- c. If the Government exercises this option, the extended assistance agreement shall be considered to include this option term.

## 10. SUPPORTING INFORMATION (APR 2008) (USAMRAA)

Information such as subawards, consultant agreements, vendor quotes, and personnel work agreements may be required in order to support proposed costs or to determine the employment status of personnel under the assistance agreement. The Government's receipt of this information does not constitute approval or acceptance of any term or condition included therein. The terms and conditions of the assistance agreement take precedence over any term or condition included in supporting information.

# 11. PROGRAMMATIC/SCIENCE REVIEW (AUG 2010) (USAMRAA)

The PI shall budget for, prepare for, and participate in a programmatic/science review, lasting not more than two days and including up to two overnight stays, for each year of the project's term, at the Grant Officer's Representative / Contracting Officer's Representative's (GOR/COR) request. The invitation and format for the programmatic/science review will be provided by the GOR/COR at least ninety (90) days prior to the meeting. The meetings will generally be held in the Fort Detrick, MD area but could occur elsewhere in the U.S.

### 12. INDIRECT COST LIMIT (AUG 2010) (USAMRAA)

This award is funded from the FY 10 DoD Appropriation Act. In accordance with SEC 8101 of that Act, notwithstanding any other provision of law, none of the funds made available in that Act may be used to pay negotiated indirect cost rates on a contract, grant, or cooperative agreement (or similar arrangement) entered into by the Department of Defense and an entity in excess of 35 percent of the total costs of the contract, grant, or agreement (or similar agreement). Therefore, at no time during the period of this award shall the indirect cost exceed 35% of the total cost of the award.

Page 10 of 14

# 13. REQUIREMENTS FOR FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ACT IMPLEMENTATION (2 CFR Part 170)

## Appendix A to Part 170-Award Term

I. Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation

A. Reporting of first-tier subawards.

1. <u>Applicability</u>. Unless you are exempt as provided in paragraph D. of this award term, you must report each action that obligates \$25,000 or more in Federal funds that does not include Recovery funds (as defined in section 1512(a)(2) of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, Pub. L. 111-5) for a subaward to an entity (see definitions in paragraph e. of this award term).

2. Where and when to report.

i. You must report each obligating action described in paragraph a.1. of this award term to http://www.fsrs.gov.

ii. For subaward information, report no later than the end of the month following the month in which the obligation was made. (For example, if the obligation was made on November 7, 2010, the obligation must be reported by no later than December 31, 2010.)

3. <u>What to report</u>. You must report the information about each obligating action that the submission instructions posted at <u>http://www.fsrs.gov</u> specify, must report the information about each obligating action that the submission instructions posted at <u>http://www.fsrs.gov</u> specify.

B. Reporting Total Compensation of Recipient Executives.

1. <u>Applicability and what to report</u>. You must report total compensation for each of your five most highly compensated executives for the preceding completed fiscal year, if—

i. the total Federal funding authorized to date under this award is \$25,000 or more;

ii. in the preceding fiscal year, you received-

(A) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenues from Federal procurement contracts (and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and subawards); and

(B) \$25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from Federal procurement contracts (and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and subawards); and

iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation of the executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (To determine if the public has access to the compensation information, see the U.S. Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at <a href="http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm">http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm</a>.)

2. Where and when to report. You must report executive total compensation described in paragraph b.1. of this award term:

i. As part of your registration profile at http://www.ccr.gov.

ii. By the end of the month following the month in which this award is made, and annually thereafter.

Page 11 of 14

C. Reporting of Total Compensation of Subrecipient Executives.

1. <u>Applicability and what to report</u>. Unless you are exempt as provided in paragraph d. of this award term, for each first-tier subrecipient under this award, you shall report the names and total compensation of each of the subrecipient's five most highly compensated executives for the subrecipient's preceding completed fiscal year, if—

i. in the subrecipient's preceding fiscal year, the subrecipient received-

(A) 80 percent or more of its annual gross revenues from Federal procurement contracts (and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and subawards); and

(B) \$25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from Federal procurement contracts (and subcontracts), and Federal financial assistance subject to the Transparency Act (and subawards); and

ii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation of the executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (To determine if the public has access to the compensation information, see the U.S. Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.)

2. Where and when to report. You must report subrecipient executive total compensation described in paragraph c.1. of this award

term:

i. To the recipient.

ii. By the end of the month following the month during which you make the subaward. For example, if a subaward is obligated on any date during the month of October of a given year (i.e., between October 1 and 31), you must report any required compensation information of the subrecipient by November 30 of that year.

D. <u>Exemptions</u>. If, in the previous tax year, you had gross income, from all sources, under \$300,000, you are exempt from the requirements to report:

i. Subawards, and

ii. The total compensation of the five most highly compensated executives of any subrecipient.

E. Definitions. For purposes of this award term:

1. Entity means all of the following, as defined in 2 CFR part 25:

i. A Governmental organization, which is a State, local government, or Indian tribe;

ii. A foreign public entity;

iii. A domestic or foreign nonprofit organization;

iv. A domestic or foreign for-profit organization;

v. A Federal agency, but only as a subrecipient under an award or subaward to a non-Federal entity.

2. Executive means officers, managing partners, or any other employees in management positions.

3. Subaward:

i. This term means a legal instrument to provide support for the performance of any portion of the substantive project or program for which you received this award and that you as the recipient award to an eligible subrecipient.

ii. The term does not include your procurement of property and services needed to carry out the project or program (for further explanation, see Sec. — .210 of the attachment to OMB Circular A-133, "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations").

iii. A subaward may be provided through any legal agreement, including an agreement that you or a subrecipient considers a

contract.

Page 12 of 14

4. Subrecipient means an entity that:

i. Receives a subaward from you (the recipient) under this award; and

ii. Is accountable to you for the use of the Federal funds provided by the subaward.

5. Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the executive during the recipient's or subrecipient's preceding fiscal year and includes the following (for more information see 17 CFR 229.402(c)(2)):

i. Salary and bonus.

ii. Awards of stock, stock options, and stock appreciation rights. Use the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the fiscal year in accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004) (FAS 123R), Shared Based Payments.

iii. Earnings for services under non-equity incentive plans. This does not include group life, health, hospitalization or medical reimbursement plans that do not discriminate in favor of executives, and are available generally to all salaried employees.

iv. Change in pension value. This is the change in present value of defined benefit and actuarial pension plans.

v. Above-market earnings on deferred compensation which is not tax- qualified.

vi. Other compensation, if the aggregate value of all such other compensation (e.g. severance, termination payments, value of life insurance paid on behalf of the employee, perquisites or property) for the executive exceeds \$10,000.

### End of clause

# 14. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE USE OF UNIVERSAL IDENTIFIER AND CENTRAL CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION (2 CFR Part 25)

# Appendix A to Part 25-Award Term

I. Central Contractor Registration and Universal Identifier Requirements

A. Requirement for Central Contractor Registration (CCR). Unless you are exempted from this requirement under 2 CFR 25.110, you as the recipient must maintain the currency of your information in the CCR until you submit the final financial report required under this award or receive the final payment, whichever is later. This requires that you review and update the information at least annually after the initial registration, and more frequently if required by changes in your information or another award term.

B. Requirement for Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Numbers. If you are authorized to make subawards under this award,

you:

1. Must notify potential subrecipients that no entity (see definition in paragraph C of this award term) may receive a subaward from

you unless the entity has provided its DUNS number to you.

2. May not make a subaward to an entity unless the entity has provided its DUNS number to you.

C. Definitions. For purposes of this award term:

1. Central Contractor Registration (CCR) means the Federal repository into which an entity must provide information required for the conduct of business as a recipient. Additional information about registration procedures may be found at the CCR Internet site (currently at http://www.ccr.gov).

2. Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number means the nine-digit number established and assigned by Dun and Bradstreet, Inc. (D&B) to uniquely identify business entities. A DUNS number may be obtained from D&B by telephone (currently 866-705-5711) or the Internet (currently at http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform).

```
Page 13 of 14
```

3. Entity, as it is used in this award term, means all of the following, as defined at 2 CFR part 25, subpart C:

a. A Governmental organization, which is a State, local government, or Indian Tribe;

b. A foreign public entity;

c. A domestic or foreign nonprofit organization;

d. A domestic or foreign for-profit organization; and

e. A Federal agency, but only as a subrecipient under an award or subaward to a non-Federal entity.

4. Subaward:

a. This term means a legal instrument to provide support for the performance of any portion of the substantive project or program for which you received this award and that you as the recipient award to an eligible subrecipient.

c. A subaward may be provided through any legal agreement, including an agreement that you consider a contract.

5. Subrecipient means an entity that:

a. Receives a subaward from you under this award; and

b. Is accountable to you for the use of the Federal funds provided by the subaward.

End of Clause

Page 14 of 14

Section 00800 - Special Contract Requirements

ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA

AA: 97001301831074811935200000004150P1FK8UW23RYX1034N601FK8UP1018064 AMOUNT: \$5,598,600.00 CIN W23RYX1034N6010001: \$5,598,600.00

# CERTIFICATIONS

I, Richard A. King, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 11, 2011

/s/ Richard A. King

Richard A. King Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

# CERTIFICATIONS

I, James H. Welch, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 11, 2011

/s/ James H. Welch

James H. Welch Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

# CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Richard A. King, Chief Executive Officer of AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company"), and James H. Welch, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

- 1. The Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2011, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the "Periodic Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and
- 2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have set their hands hereto as of the 11th day of August, 2011.

/s/ Richard A. King	/s/ James H. Welch
Richard A. King	James H. Welch
Chief Executive Officer	Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.